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DIRECTORS’ responsibility statement

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of the group annual financial statements and annual 
financial statements of City Lodge Hotels Limited, comprising 
the statements of financial position at 30 June 2017 and the 
statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and 
cash flows for the year then ended and the accounting policies 
and notes to the financial statements, in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements 
of the Companies Act of South Africa. In addition, the directors 
are responsible for preparing the directors’ report. 

The directors are also responsible for such internal control as the 
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error, and for maintaining adequate 
accounting records and an effective system of risk management.

The directors have made an assessment of the company and its 
subsidiaries’ ability to continue as going concerns and there is no 
reason to believe the businesses will not be going concerns in the 
year ahead.

The auditor is responsible for reporting on whether the group 
financial statements and financial statements are fairly presented 
in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework.

APPROVAL OF GROUP ANNUAL FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The group annual financial statements and annual financial 
statements were approved by the board of directors on 
4 September 2017 and signed on its behalf by:

 

C Ross A C Widegger
Chief executive Financial director
Authorised director Authorised director



I, the undersigned, in my capacity as company secretary, hereby 
confirm to the best of my knowledge and belief that in terms of 
the Companies Act, 71 of 2008 (the “Companies Act”), for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2017, the company has lodged with 
the Commissioner of the Companies and Intellectual Property 
Commission, all returns and notices prescribed by the Companies 
Act and that all such returns and notices appear to be true, 
correct and up to date.

M C van Heerden
Company secretary

4 September 2017

CERTIFICATE by the company secretary
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REPORT of the audit commi ee

This report is provided by the audit committee in compliance with 
the Companies Act, 71 of 2008, and as recommended by King III.

MEMBERSHIP
The committee comprises S G Morris (chairman), G G Huysamer, 
F W J Kilbourn and N Medupe, each of whom are independent 
non-executive directors and all of whom are financially literate and 
possess the necessary experience to contribute to the committee’s 
deliberations. The committee met three times during the year with 
the chief executive, financial director, divisional director: financial and 
representatives from external audit and internal audit attending each 
meeting by invitation.

MANDATE AND TERMS OF REFERENCE
Further information with regards to the audit committee, 
including its terms of reference and procedures, is described 
more fully in the governance report on pages 67 and 68 of 
this Integrated Report.

STATUTORY DUTIES
The audit committee is satisfied that it considered, executed and 
discharged its responsibilities during the year in accordance with 
its mandate as described above.

The committee has considered the independence of the 
company’s external auditors, KPMG Inc., and is satisfied that, for 
the year under review, the external auditors are independent. The 
committee adopts a work plan annually, in advance, in order to 
manage the discharge of its responsibilities under the Companies 
Act, King III, its own charter and the JSE Listings Requirements. 

It approved the external auditors’ fees for 2017 and the non-
audit-related services performed by the external auditors during 
the year in accordance with the policy established and approved 
by the board.

The committee, excluding management invitees, met with both 
the external and internal auditors in order to discuss any issues 
relevant to the audit as well as to consider the resources and 
adequacy of the finance function, in particular the expertise and 
experience of the financial director. It concluded that both were 
adequate.

The committee, excluding both the external and internal auditors, 
met with management invitees in order to discuss any issues 

relevant to the audit as well as to consider the quality and 
effectiveness of the external and internal audit process and 
concluded that both were adequate.

After assessing the requirements set out in the Companies Act, the 
committee is satisfied with the independence and objectivity of 
the external auditors, and recommends the reappointment of the 
external auditors at the next annual general meeting.

INTERNAL CONTROL
The audit committee has considered and approved the group’s 
system of internal financial controls, based on the reports received 
from the external auditors and reports on hotel visits by the internal 
auditors, and confirms that no material breakdown of internal 
controls has taken place during the year. 

SOLVENCY AND LIQUIDITY
The committee is satisfied that the board has performed a solvency 
and liquidity test on the company and has concluded that the 
company satisfies the test after payment of the final dividend.

INTEGRATED REPORTING
The Integrated Report comprises the:

corporate report;
governance report;
social and ethics report;
remunera on report;
 supplementary informa on to the Integrated Report; and
the annual nancial statements.

Following our review, and having regard to all material factors and 
risks that may impact the integrity of the Integrated Report, we 
accordingly recommend the Integrated Report and group annual 
financial statements of City Lodge Hotels Limited for the year 
ended 30 June 2017 to the board of directors for approval on 
4 September 2017.

S G Morris
Chairman of the audit committee

4 September 2017

for the year ended 30 June 2017



for the year ended 30 June 2017

NATURE OF BUSINESS
The group owns and operates high-quality, affordable hotels 
targeted at the business community and leisure traveller.

FINANCIAL RESULTS
Group profit before taxation for the year amounted to 
R425,4 million (2016: R452,1 million) while consolidated headline 
earnings totalled R295,3 million (808,0 cents per share, diluted) 
compared with headline earnings of R315,1 million (862,5 cents 
per share, diluted) for the previous year.

On a normalised basis, the consolidated headline earnings totalled 
R362,2 million (833,6 cents per share, diluted) compared with 
normalised headline earnings of R373,7 million (859,9 cents per 
share, diluted) for the previous year.

The company’s interest in its subsidiaries’ profit after taxation 
amounted to R29,0 million (2016: R55,2 million).

INTEREST BEARING BORROWINGS
During 2015 the group was granted an approved facility of 
R1 140 million to be utilised in funding the group’s expansion with 
final repayment due five years after each initial drawdown. An 
amount of R50 million was utilised during the year, increasing 
the amount due to R320 million. Further details are included in 
note 11.

DIVIDENDS
An interim dividend of 272,0 cents per share (2016: 269,0 cents) 
was declared on 16 February 2017, payable to ordinary shareholders 
registered on 10 March 2017. A final dividend of 228,0 cents per 
share (2016: 248,0 cents) was declared on 16 August 2017, payable 
to ordinary shareholders registered on 8 September 2017.

SHARE CAPITAL
There was no change in the authorised share capital of the 
company during the year under review.

The issued share capital increased by 165 540 shares as reflected 
in note 9.

The shares issued during the year were to participants in 
the executive employee share incentive scheme, in terms 
of share options exercised, at prices of between R58,59 and 
R80,99 per share.

The City Lodge 10th anniversary employees’ share scheme
At a general meeting of shareholders on 18 December 1995, 
a share scheme was created for all employees other than those 
employees who participate in the City Lodge executive employee 
share incentive scheme. The company issued 1 000 000 new 
ordinary shares to the trust which were funded by means of an 
interest-free loan from the company for an amount of R34 million. 

The following distributions were made in terms of the scheme:

Distribution date

Shares per
 eligible

 employee
Total shares
 distributed

December 1995 30 15 420
November 2005 55 38 445
November 2006 138 88 734
November 2007 214 137 388
November 2010 48 36 336
November 2012 80 72 960
November 2013 69 61 846
November 2015 25 22 800
November 2016 19 17 575

491 504

In applying IAS 39 – Financial Instruments: recognition and 
measurement, the carrying value of the loan in the company is 
R34,0 million (2016: R34,0 million) based on amortised cost.

SUBSIDIARIES
Details relating to interest in subsidiaries are included in note 3.

DIRECTORATE AND SECRETARY
The directors in office during the year under review were: 
G G Huysamer, F W J Kilbourn, S Marutlulle (appointed 1 October 
2016), N Medupe, S G Morris, B T Ngcuka (chairman), V M Rague, 
C Ross (chief executive), K I M Shongwe and A C Widegger 
(financial director).

In terms of the memorandum of incorporation, Mr G G Huysamer, 
Mr F W J Kilbourn and Dr K I M Shongwe retire at the forthcoming 
annual general meeting but are eligible and available for re-election.
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST
The directors’ individual interest in the ordinary share capital of the company at 30 June were as follows:

Beneficial
 Direct Indirect

2017 2016 2017 2016

G G Huysamer – – – –
F W J Kilbourn 17 000 17 000 17 500 17 500
S Marutlulle – – – –
N Medupe – – 102 247* 102 247*
S G Morris – – – –
B T Ngcuka – – 444 521* 444 521*
V M Rague – – – –
C Ross 205 294 158 095 15 000 11 084
K I M Shongwe – – 153 371* 153 371*
A C Widegger 193 326 166 729 – –

Total 415 620 341 824 732 639 728 723

*  Mrs Medupe, Mr Ngcuka and Dr Shongwe’s indirect shareholding reflects their proportionate share of the 2 556 185 shares owned by Vuwa Investments 
Proprietary Limited.

GOING CONCERN
The directors consider that the company and its subsidiaries have 
adequate resources to continue operating for the foreseeable 
future and that it is therefore appropriate to adopt the going 
concern basis in preparing the group and company financial 
statements. The directors have satisfied themselves that the 
company and its subsidiaries are in a sound financial position 
and that they have access to sufficient cash and borrowing 
facilities to meet their foreseeable cash requirements.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE
There are no material events after the reporting date.

Directors were interested in nil (2016: 129 040) options to acquire 
ordinary shares in the company at 30 June 2017 under the 
executive share incentive scheme. This scheme has been replaced 
by the share appreciation rights scheme, the deferred bonus plan 
and the restricted share plan. Details of options held by individual 
directors are included in note 18.

No material changes in directors’ interests have taken place 
between the reporting date and the date of issue of this 
Integrated Report.



to the shareholders of City Lodge Hotels Limited

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED AND 
SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Opinion 
We have audited the consolidated and separate financial 
statements of City Lodge Hotels Limited (“the group” and 
“company”) set out on pages 100 to 150, which comprise the 
statements of financial position at 30 June 2017, and the 
statements of comprehensive income, the statements of changes 
in equity,  the statements of cash flows for the year then ended, 
and the accounting policies, notes to the financial statements and 
the segment analysis.

In our opinion, the consolidated and separate financial statements 
present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated and 
separate financial position of City Lodge Hotels Limited at 30 June 
2017, and its consolidated and separate financial performance 
and consolidated and separate cash flows for the year then ended 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (“ISA”). Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities 
for the Audit of the Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent of 
the group and company in accordance with the Independent 
Regulatory Board for Auditors Code of Professional Conduct 
for Registered Auditors (“IRBA Code”) and other independence 
requirements applicable to performing audits of financial 
statements in South Africa. We have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the IRBA Code and in 
accordance with other ethical requirements applicable to 
performing audits in South Africa. The IRBA Code is consistent 
with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants 
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (Parts A and B). We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Key audit ma ers
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated and 
separate financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated and 
separate financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

alua on assessment o  the re rement bene t obliga on at date o  closure o  the und
(Applicable to the consolidated and separate nancial statements

Refer to the accoun ng policy for de ned-bene t plans on page 106 and to note 24 to the nancial statements.

The key audit ma er How we addressed the ma er in our audit
As disclosed in note 24, the group and company had an obliga on in respect 
of a de ned-bene t pension scheme (“the fund”) which came to an end on 
10 January 2017 when the Financial Services Board approved the winding 
down of the fund. A closing valua on of the fund was required to be 
performed in order to determine the value to be transferred to the new 
de ned-contribu on fund in respect of ac ve members, including the surplus 
allocated to transferring members.

The closing valua on was sensi ve to changes in underlying assump ons, and 
management exercised signi cant judgement when determining assump ons 
to be applied, par cularly the discount rates, future salary and pension 
increases and mortality rates.

Due to the level of judgement involved in applying the assump ons on the 
closure of the de ned-bene t fund, this is considered a key audit ma er in 
the audit of the consolidated and separate nancial statements.

Our audit procedures performed in respect of the closing valua on of the 
fund included:

tes ng the accuracy and completeness of the membership data used by 
the actuaries in performing their assessment of the scheme based on 
payroll records;
working with our own actuarial experts to evaluate the assump ons used 
by management in valuing the group’s and company’s de ned-bene t 
obliga ons directly before se lement date, including the discount rate, 
future salary and pension increases and mortality rates, in rela on to 
external market data; and
assessing the disclosure in respect of the closure of the fund and related 
assump ons made in terms of the requirements of the nancial repor ng 
framework.
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mpairment o  trade recei ables
(Applicable to the consolidated and separate nancial statements
Refer to the accoun ng policy for the impairment of non-deriva ve nancial assets on page 103 and to note 27.4 to the nancial statements.

The key audit ma er How we addressed the ma er in our audit
Due to the nature of the group’s and company’s business, a signi cant 
amount of trade receivables are in respect of travel agencies and large 
corporate en es. 

Slow economic growth, in a onary pressures and increased interest rates 
have had a nega ve impact on travel spend, and these economic condi ons 
increase the risk of default in the payment of trade receivables.

Given these pressures, the impairment allowance at year-end of R6,8 million 
and R6,7 million in the consolidated nancial statements and separate 

nancial statements respec vely, increased signi cantly from the prior year. 
The impairment allowance recognised was based on management 
judgements about the history of default for long outstanding amounts, 
including considera on of payments received a er year-end.

Due to the level of judgement involved in assessing the recoverability of the 
trade receivables, the impairment of trade receivables was considered to be a 
key audit ma er in our audit of the consolidated and separate nancial 
statements. 

Our audit procedures with regard to the impairment of trade receivables 
included, among others: 

re-performing the ageing of trade receivables to verify the accuracy of the 
ageing which is the basis for iden fying overdue trade receivables; 
agreeing a sample of outstanding sales invoices at year-end to subsequent 
cash receipts; and
assessing the reasonableness of the assump ons used by management in 
determining the impairment allowance by predic ng our own impairment 
allowance based on long outstanding amounts and customers handed over 
for collec on, and comparing our impairment assessment to that 
calculated by management. 

mpairment o  other in estments
(Applicable to the consolidated nancial statements
Refer to the accoun ng policy for the impairment of non-deriva ve nancial assets on page 103 and to note 8 to the nancial statements.

The key audit ma er How we addressed the ma er in our audit
The group, through a wholly owned subsidiary, has deposits with Chase Bank 
(Kenya) Limited (“Chase Bank”) amoun ng to KES384,8 million (R48,2 million) 
at year-end. As indicated in note 8 , Chase Bank was placed under 
receivership on 7 April 2016 and re-opened on 27 April 2016 under a receiver 
manager, which is evalua ng buyers for Chase Bank. These deposits have 
been classi ed as other investments in the consolidated nancial statements.

The group’s ability to access the deposits is restricted and due to uncertainty 
about whether the deposits are fully recoverable given the receivership 
process, an impairment of R24,0 million has been recognised at year-end. The 
impairment recognised was based on management’s es ma on of the 
recoverability of the deposit in light of the informa on available to 
management about the progress of the receivership process at year-end.

Given the level of judgement involved in determining the recoverable amount 
of the deposit, the impairment of other investments was considered a key 
audit ma er in our audit of the consolidated nancial statements.

Our audit procedures performed with regard to the impairment assessment of 
other investments included:

inspec ng the communica ons between the directors of the subsidiary, 
the receiver manager and the Central Bank of Kenya to gain an 
understanding of, and progress made in respect of, the receivership process 
for Chase Bank;
inspec ng media releases about the process of iden fying a poten al buyer 
in order to understand the progress made in nalising the transac on; 
using this informa on to evaluate whether a successful and meous 
conclusion may be reached by the receivership process and whether 
appropriate risk factors were considered by management in determining the 
extent of the impairment required at year-end; and
assessing the appropriateness of the disclosures made on this ma er, 
included in note 8 to the consolidated nancial statements.



Other informa on
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other 
information comprises the certificate of the company secretary, 
the report of the audit committee and the directors’ report as 
required by the Companies Act of South Africa, and the rest of the 
information included in the Integrated Report. Other information 
does not include the consolidated and separate financial 
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated and separate financial 
statements does not cover the other information and we do not 
express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion 
thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated and separate 
financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated and 
separate financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the 
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based 
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a 
material misstatement of this other information, we are required 
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibili es of the directors for the consolidated and 
separate nancial statements
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of the consolidated and separate financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South 
Africa, and for such internal control as the directors determine is 
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated and separate 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated and separate financial statements, 
the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s and the 
company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, 
as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 

going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either 
intend to liquidate the group and/or the company or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibili es for the audit of the consolidated and 
separate nancial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the consolidated and separate financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not 
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISA 
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these consolidated and separate financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISA, we exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also: 

iden fy and assess the risks of material misstatement of the 
consolidated and separate nancial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive 
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is su cient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detec ng a material misstatement resul ng from fraud is higher 
than for one resul ng from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, inten onal omissions, misrepresenta ons, or the 
override of internal control; 
obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit 
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the e ec veness of the group’s and the company’s internal 
control; 
evaluate the appropriateness of accoun ng policies used and 
the reasonableness of accoun ng es mates and related 
disclosures made by the directors; 
conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the 
going concern basis of accoun ng and based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or condi ons that may cast signi cant doubt 
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on the group’s and the company’s ability to con nue as a going 
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we 
are required to draw a en on in our auditor’s report to the 
related disclosures in the consolidated and separate nancial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify 
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future 
events or condi ons may cause the group and/or the company 
to cease to con nue as a going concern; 
evaluate the overall presenta on, structure and content of 
the consolidated and separate nancial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated and separate 

nancial statements represent the underlying transac ons 
and events in a manner that achieves fair presenta on; and 
obtain su cient appropriate audit evidence regarding the 

nancial informa on of the en es or business ac vi es within 
the group to express an opinion on the consolidated nancial 
statements. We are responsible for the direc on, supervision 
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant 
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have 
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships 
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on 
our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine 
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the 
consolidated and separate financial statements of the current 
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these 
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes 
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare 
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be 
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences 
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public 
interest benefits of such communication. 

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY 
REQUIREMENTS
In terms of the IRBA Rule published in Government Gazette 
number 39475, dated 4 December 2015, we report that KPMG 
Inc. has been the auditor of City Lodge Hotels Limited for 31 years.

KPMG Inc.
Registered Auditors

Per: Michael Oddy
Chartered Accountant (SA)
Registered Auditor
Director

KPMG Crescent
85 Empire Road
Parktown
Johannesburg

4 September 2017



REPORTING ENTITIES
City Lodge Hotels Limited (“the company”) is a company domiciled 
in South Africa. The group financial statements of the company as 
at and for the year ended 30 June 2017 comprise the company 
and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the group). 

The group owns and operates high-quality, affordable hotels 
targeted at the business community and leisure traveller.

Where reference is made to “group”, it should be interpreted 
as company, where the context requires and unless 
otherwise stated.

BASIS OF PREPARATION
Functional and presentation currency
These financial statements are presented in Rand, which is the 
company’s functional and group’s presentation currency, rounded 
to the nearest thousand.

Basis of measurement
These financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis, 
except for derivative financial instruments carried at fair value and 
the defined-benefit plan measured at the fair value of plan assets 
less the present value of the defined-benefit obligation.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) requires 
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions 
that may affect the application of accounting policies and 
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. 
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical 
experience and various other factors that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form 
the basis of making the judgements about carrying values of 
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other 
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an 
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised 
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision only 
affects that period, or in the period of the revision and future 
periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

In particular, information about significant areas of estimation, 
uncertainty and critical judgements, in applying accounting 
policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts 
recognised in the financial statements is in relation to 
the following:

Measurement of share-based payments (note 24).
Measurement of impairment allowance of trade receivables 
(note 27.4)
Measurement of impairment loss on other investments 
(note 8).
Measurement of de ned-bene t fund (note 24).

Statement of compliance
The group and company financial statements have been prepared 
in accordance with IFRS and its interpretations adopted by 
the International Accounting Standards Board, the Listings 
Requirements of JSE Limited, the SAICA Financial Reporting Guides 
issued by the Accounting Practices Committee and Financial 
Reporting Pronouncements as issued by the Financial Reporting 
Standards Council and the Companies Act of South Africa. These 
group and company financial statements were authorised for 
issue by the board of directors on 4 September 2017. 

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The accounting policies set out on the following pages have been 
applied consistently by all group entities to all periods presented 
in these financial statements.

Basis of consolidation
The group accounts for business combinations using the acquisition 
method when control is transferred to the group. The consideration 
transferred in the acquisition is generally measured at fair value, as 
are the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. For 
a business combination achieved in stages, the pre-existing equity 
interest in the acquiree is measured at fair value at the acquisition 
date. Any goodwill that arises is tested annually for impairment. 
Any gain on a bargain purchase is recognised in profit or loss 
immediately. Transaction costs are expensed as incurred, except 
if related to the issue of debt or equity securities.

The group financial statements include the financial statements 
of the company and its subsidiaries. 
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Investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less accumulated 
impairment adjustments in the company separate financial 
statements.

Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the group. The group 
controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable 
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability 
to affect those returns through its power over the entity. 
The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the 
consolidated financial statements from the date on which 
control commences until the date on which control ceases.

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the costs of acquisition over 
the group’s interest in the fair value of the identifiable assets 
(including intangibles), liabilities and contingent liabilities of 
the acquired entity at the date of acquisition and if a business 
combination is achieved in stages, the fair value of the  
pre-existing equity interest in the acquiree.

Goodwill is stated at cost less impairment losses and is reviewed 
for impairment on an annual basis. Any impairment identified is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss and is not reversed.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units (“CGUs”) for the 
purpose of impairment testing. Each of those CGUs is identified in 
accordance with the basis on which the businesses are managed 
and according to the differing risk and reward profiles.

Foreign transactions and balances
The financial statements for each group company have been 
prepared on the basis that transactions in foreign currencies are 
recorded in their functional currency at the rate of exchange 
ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary items 
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rate 
of exchange ruling at the reporting date with the resultant 
translation differences being credited or charged to profit or loss. 

Foreign subsidiaries – translation
One-off items in the statement of comprehensive income 
and cash flow statements of foreign subsidiaries expressed in 
currencies other than the SA Rand are translated to SA Rand at 
the rates of exchange prevailing on the day of the transaction. 
All other items are translated at average rates of exchange for 
the relevant reporting period. Assets and liabilities of these 
undertakings are translated at closing rates of exchange at each 
reporting date. All translation exchange differences arising on 
the retranslation of opening net assets together with differences 
between statement of comprehensive income translated at 
average and closing rates are recognised as a separate component 
of other comprehensive income. For these purposes net assets 
include loans between group companies that form part of the net 
investment, for which settlement is neither planned nor likely to 
occur in the foreseeable future and is either denominated in the 
functional currency of the parent or the foreign entity.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of 
a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign 
entity and translated at the closing rate.

Structured entities
The group has established a number of structured entities for the 
purposes of the BEE transaction. The group does not have any 
direct or indirect shareholdings in these entities. The group has 
guaranteed the funding of the structured entities and as such is 
deemed to control these structured entities resulting in the 
incorporation of the structured entities into the company and 
group financial statements.

Transactions eliminated on consolidation
Intragroup transactions and balances, and any unrealised income 
or expenses arising from intragroup transactions, are eliminated 
in preparing the group financial statements.



Property, plant and equipment
Owned assets
Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 
Costs include expenditure that is directly attributable to the 
acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed assets 
includes the cost of materials, direct labour and any other costs 
directly attributable to bringing the asset to a working condition 
for its intended use. Where significant components of an item of 
property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are 
accounted for as separate items of property, plant and equipment.

Freehold land is stated at cost and is not depreciated. Freehold 
and leasehold buildings are stated at cost and depreciated 
over periods of up to 50 years as deemed appropriate to reduce 
carrying values to estimated residual values over their useful lives.

The group recognises in the carrying amount of an item of 
property, plant and equipment the cost of replacing part of such 
an item when the cost is incurred if it is probable that the future 
economic benefits embodied with the item will flow to the group 
and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying 
amount of the replaced item is derecognised. All other costs are 
recognised in profit or loss as an expense as incurred.

Borrowing costs incurred on funds raised to erect hotel buildings 
(qualifying assets) are capitalised up to the date that the activities 
necessary to prepare the hotel for its intended use are 
substantially complete.

Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable 
assurance that they will be received and the group will comply 
with the conditions associated with the grant. Such grants are 
deducted from the cost of the asset.

Depreciation is charged to profit or loss to write off the cost of the 
asset to its estimated residual value on a straight-line basis over 
the estimated useful life of each part of an item of property, plant 

and equipment. Depreciation commences the month following 
acquisition. The estimated useful lives are currently as follows:

Buildings 10 to 50 years
Furniture and equipment Three to five years

Leasehold improvements are written off over the initial period of 
the lease.

The residual values, depreciation methods, and useful lives are 
reassessed annually.

Gains and losses arising on the disposal of property, plant and 
equipment are included in profit or loss.

Leases
Opera ng leases as lessee
Leases, where the lessor retains the risk and rewards of ownership 
of the underlying asset, are classified as operating leases.

Operating lease payments are expensed in profit or loss on a 
straight-line basis over the period of the leases. Other contingent 
operating lease payments are charged against profit or loss as 
they are incurred.

Intangible assets
Internally developed trademarks are not recognised. Expenditure 
to enhance and maintain such trademarks is charged in full 
against profit or loss.

Expenditure on research activities is recognised in profit or loss 
as incurred.

Software development expenditure is capitalised only if the 
expenditure can be measured reliably, the product or process is 
technically and commercially feasible, future economic benefits 
are probable and the group intends to and has sufficient resources 
to complete development and to use or sell the asset. Otherwise, 
it is recognised in profit or loss as incurred. Subsequent to initial 
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recognition, software development expenditure is measured 
at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated 
impairment losses.

Amortisation is calculated to write off the cost of intangible assets 
less their estimated residual values using the straight-line method 
over their estimated useful lives, and is generally recognised in 
profit or loss.

The estimated useful lives are as follows:
Software development costs Five to 10 years

Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are 
reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate.

Impairment
Non deri a e nancial assets
A financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective evidence 
indicates that one or more loss events have had a negative effect 
on the estimated future cash flows of that asset that can be 
measured reliably.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured 
at amortised cost is calculated as the difference between its 
carrying amount, and the present value of the estimated future 
cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate.

An impairment loss in respect of an equity-accounted investee 
is measured by comparing the recoverable amount of the 
investment with its carrying amount.

All impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.

An impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be related 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was 
recognised. For financial assets measured at amortised cost and 
equity-accounted investees, the reversal is recognised in profit 
or loss.

Non nancial assets
The carrying amounts of the group’s non-financial assets, other 
than inventories and deferred tax assets, are reviewed at each 
reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of 
impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s 
recoverable amount is estimated.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an 
asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount. 
A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable asset group that 
generates cash flows that largely are independent from other assets 
and groups. Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. 
Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units 
are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill 
allocated to the units and then to reduce the carrying amount of 
the other assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro rata basis.

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the 
greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In 
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are 
discounted to their present value using a pretax discount rate 
or estimated using a price to earnings ratio that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the asset.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. 
In respect of other assets, impairment losses recognised in prior 
periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications 
that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment 
loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used 
to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is 
reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount 
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment 
loss had been recognised. 

Pre-opening expenses
Pre-opening expenses of new hotels are charged directly against 
profit or loss as incurred.



Inventories
Inventory is stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value, 
on a first-in first-out basis, and includes expenditure incurred in 
acquiring the inventories and bringing them to their existing 
location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary 
course of business, less the estimated selling expenses.

Taxation
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income 
tax expense is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent 
that it relates to items recognised directly in equity or other 
comprehensive income.

Current taxation comprises taxation payable calculated on the 
basis of the expected taxable income for the year, using the 
taxation rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting 
date, and any adjustment of taxation payable for previous years.

Deferred taxation is provided based on temporary differences. 
Temporary differences are differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes 
and their tax base. The amount of deferred taxation provided is 
based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of 
the carrying amount of assets and liabilities using taxation rates 
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. Deferred 
taxation is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that it 
relates to a transaction that is recognised directly in equity or 
other comprehensive income, or a business combination that is 
an acquisition. The effect on deferred taxation of any changes in 
taxation rates is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent 
that it relates to items previously recognised directly in equity or 
other comprehensive income.

Deferred taxation is not recognised for the following temporary 
differences:

the ini al recogni on of assets or liabili es in a transac on 
that is not a business combina on and that a ects neither 
accoun ng nor taxable pro t; 

di erences rela ng to investments in subsidiaries to the extent 
that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future; and
taxable temporary di erences arising on the ini al recogni on 
of goodwill.

A deferred taxation asset is recognised to the extent that it is 
probable that future taxable profits will be available against which 
the associated unused taxation losses and deductible temporary 
differences can be utilised. Deferred taxation assets are reviewed 
at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that the related taxation benefit will be realised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally 
enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and 
they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on 
the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they 
intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis 
or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously. 

Dividends withholding tax is a tax on shareholders receiving 
dividends and is applicable to all dividends declared on or after 
1 April 2012.

The company withholds dividends tax on behalf of its 
shareholders on dividends declared. Amounts withheld are 
not recognised as part of the company’s tax charge, but rather 
as part of the dividend paid, recognised directly in equity.

Financial instruments
easurement

Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value plus, for 
financial instruments not at fair value through profit or loss, any 
directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, these instruments are measured as set out below:

Non deri a e nancial assets
The group initially recognises loans and receivables on the date 
that they are originated. All other financial assets (including assets 
designated as at fair value through profit or loss) are recognised 
initially on the trade date, which is the date that the group becomes 
a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

for the year ended 30 June 2017
ACCOUNTING policies con nued

104 City Lodge Hotel Group 
Integrated Report 2017



105City Lodge Hotel Group 
Integrated Report 2017

Investments
Investments that meet the criteria for classification as loans and 
receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method, less impairment losses.

Financial assets designated as financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss are carried at fair value with any gains or losses being 
recognised in profit or loss. Fair value, for this purpose, is market 
value if listed. Attributable transaction costs are recognised in 
profit or loss when incurred.

Trade, loan and other receivables
Trade, loan and other receivables are measured at amortised cost, 
using the effective interest method, less impairment losses.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are measured at amortised cost, using 
the effective interest method.

Derecogni on
Financial assets are derecognised if the group’s contractual rights 
to the cash flows from the financial assets expire or if the group 
transfers the financial asset to another party without retaining 
control of substantially all risks and rewards of the asset. Financial 
liabilities are derecognised if the group’s obligations expire or are 
discharged or cancelled.

Non deri a e nancial liabili es
The group initially recognises debt securities issued on the date that 
they are originated. All other financial liabilities (including liabilities 
designated as fair value through profit or loss) are recognised initially 
on the trade date, which is the date that the group becomes a party 
to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Borrowings are measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method. 

Any difference between proceeds (net of transaction costs) and 
the redemption value is recognised in profit or loss as interest 
expense over the period of the borrowings.

Trade and other payables are measured at amortised cost, using 
the effective interest method. 

O set
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net 
amount reported in the statement of financial position when the 
company has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised 
amounts, and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise 
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Share capital and equity
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental external 
costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown 
in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. 

Preference shares
Preference share capital is classified as a liability as it is redeemable on 
a specific date or at the option of the shareholders and as the dividend 
payments are not discretionary. Dividends thereon are recognised as 
interest expense in profit or loss as accrued.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the group has a present legal or 
constructive obligation as a result of past events, for which it is 
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the 
obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made. 
Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash 
flows at a pretax rate that reflects current market assessments of the 
time value of money and the risk specific to the liability.

Revenue
Revenue comprises revenue received from hotel accommodation, 
food and beverage sales, but excludes value added tax, and is 
recognised once the service is rendered.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received 
or receivable, net of returns, allowances and trade discounts. 
Revenue is recognised on the provision of accommodation and 
related services in the ordinary course of the group’s activities when 
recovery of the consideration is probable, the associated costs can 
be estimated reliably, there is no continuing management 
involvement and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably.



For the customer loyalty programme, the fair value of the 
consideration received or receivable in respect of the initial sale 
is allocated between the award credits (Lodger-points) and the other 
components of the sale. The group supplies all of the awards, being 
accommodation itself. The amount allocated to the Lodger-points is 
estimated by reference to the fair value of the accommodation for 
which they could be redeemed, since the fair value of the Lodger-
points themselves is not directly observable. The fair value of the 
accommodation is estimated taking into account the expected 
redemption rate and the timing of such expected redemptions. 
Such amount is deferred and revenue is recognised only when the 
Lodger-points are redeemed and the group has fulfilled its 
obligations to supply the accommodation or when it is no longer 
probable that the points under the programme will be redeemed. 
The amount of revenue recognised in those circumstances is based 
on the number of Lodger-points that have been redeemed in 
exchange for accommodation, relative to the total number 
of Lodger-points that is expected to be redeemed.

Rental income
Rental income from property leased out under operating leases is 
recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease in 
the company. The property leased is owner-occupied property.

Financial income and expense
Financial income comprises interest income on funds invested. 
Interest income is recognised as it accrues, using the effective 
interest method.

Financial expenses comprise interest expense on borrowings, 
dividends on preference shares classified as liabilities and 
unwinding of discounts on provisions. All borrowing costs, not 
directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production 
of qualifying assets, are recognised in profit or loss using the 
effective interest method.

Employee bene ts
hort term employee bene ts

The cost of all short-term employee benefits is recognised during 
the period in which the employee renders the related service.

The liability for employee entitlements to salaries, bonuses and 
annual leave represent the amounts which the group has a present 
obligation to pay as a result of employees’ services provided to the 
reporting date. The liability has been calculated at undiscounted 
amounts based on current salary rates.

Re rement bene ts
De ned contribu on plans
Contributions to defined-contribution pension plans are 
recognised as an expense in profit or loss in the periods during 
which services are rendered by employees.

De ned bene t plans
The group’s net obligation in respect of the defined-benefit 
pension plan is calculated by estimating the amount of future 
benefit that employees have earned in return for their service 
in the current and prior periods; that benefit is discounted to 
determine its present value, and the fair value of any plan assets 
is deducted in respect of the defined-benefit pension plan. The 
discount rate is the yield at the reporting date on the All Bond 
Index (“ALBI”) that have maturity dates approximating to the 
terms of the group’s obligations and are denominated in the same 
currency in which the benefits are expected to be paid in respect 
of the defined-benefit pension plan. The calculation is performed 
by a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit method.

Remeasurements of the net defined-benefit liability, which 
comprise actuarial gains and losses and in the case of the 
defined-benefit pension plan, the return on plan assets (excluding 
interest), are recognised immediately in OCI. The group 
determines the net interest expense (income) on the net 
defined-benefit liability (asset) for the period by applying the 
discount rate used to measure the defined-benefit obligation 
at the beginning of the annual period to the then net defined-
benefit liability (asset), taking into account any changes in the 
net defined-benefit liability (asset) during the period as a result 
of contributions and benefit payments. Net interest expense 
and other expenses related to defined-benefit plans are 
recognised in profit or loss.
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Where the calculation results in an asset for the group, the 
recognised asset is limited to the present value of any future 
refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions 
to the plan available to the employer.

Share-based payment transac ons
The share incentive schemes allow certain employees to acquire 
shares of the company. The fair value of rights granted are 
recognised as an employee expense with a corresponding increase 
in equity. The fair value is measured at grant date and spread over 
the period during which the employees become unconditionally 
entitled to the rights. The fair value of the rights granted is 
measured using the stated models, taking into account the terms 
and conditions upon which the rights were granted. The amount 
recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number 
of share rights that vest, except where forfeiture is due only to 
share prices not achieving the threshold for vesting.

Share-based payment arrangements in which the group receives 
goods or services as consideration for its own equity instruments 
are accounted for as equity-settled share-based payment 
transactions, regardless of how the equity instruments are 
obtained by the group.

Earnings per share
The group presents basic, diluted and normalised earnings per 
share (“EPS”) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated 
by dividing profit for the period by the weighted average number 
of ordinary shares outstanding, excluding shares held by the BEE 
structured entities, during the period.

Diluted EPS is determined by dividing profit for the year by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding, 
excluding shares held by the BEE structured entities, plus all 
potential dilutive ordinary shares, which comprise share options 
granted to employees.

Normalised EPS is calculated by dividing profit for the year, 
excluding the effects of the BEE transactions or those of a 
non-recurring/core nature, by the weighted average number 
of ordinary shares outstanding during the period.

Normalised diluted EPS is determined by dividing profit for the 
year, excluding the effects of the BEE transactions or those of a 
non-recurring/core nature, by the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares outstanding, plus all potential dilutive ordinary 
shares, which comprise share options granted to employees.

Headline earnings per share is calculated in terms of 
circular 2/2015.

Opera ng segments
An operating segment is a component of the group that engages 
in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur 
expenses including revenues and expenses that relate to 
transactions with any of the group’s other components. 
All operating segments’ operating results are reviewed regularly 
by the chief operating decision-makers to make decisions about 
resources to be allocated to the segment and to assess its 
performance, and for which discrete financial information is 
available.

Segment results that are reported to the chief operating decision-
makers include items directly attributable to a segment as well as 
those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis.



Group Company
R000 Note 2017 2016 2017 2016

ASSETS
Non-current assets 1 978 493 1 895 445 1 712 939 1 772 606
Property, plant and equipment 1 1 917 022 1 844 140 1 179 163 1 243 696
Intangible assets and goodwill 2 50 486 45 558 50 224 45 558
Interest in subsidiaries 3 449 352 449 352
Investments 200 – 200 –
Loan receivable 4 34 000 34 000
Deferred taxation 5 10 785 5 747 – –
Current assets 372 367 306 648 202 450 160 456
Inventories 6 6 845 7 734 3 830 3 682
Trade receivables 27.4 95 092 97 408 90 582 89 389
Other receivables 7 130 549 35 948 66 793 38 735
Taxation receivable – 4 389 – –
Other investments 8 24 217 56 860
Cash and cash equivalents 115 664 104 309 41 245 28 650

Total assets 2 350 860 2 202 093 1 915 389 1 933 062

EQUITY 
Capital and reserves 934 311 871 828 682 366 609 007
Share capital and premium 9 179 377 167 958 179 377 167 958
BEE investment and incentive scheme shares (526 729) (524 228) (508 051) (505 550)
Other reserves 10 114 411 145 016 114 718 109 453
Retained earnings 1 167 252 1 083 082 896 322 837 146

LIABILITIES
Non-current liabili es 560 688 1 196 572 323 931 1 144 758
Interest-bearing borrowings 11 320 000 270 000 109 000 250 000
BEE interest-bearing borrowings 12 – 44 120 – 44 120
BEE preference shares 13 – 397 500 – 397 500
BEE shareholder’s loan 14 – 37 893 – 37 893
BEE B preference share dividend accrual 13 – 200 171 – 200 171
Other non-current liabilities 15 89 517 102 203 78 905 92 909
Deferred taxation 5 151 171 144 685 136 026 122 165
Current liabili es 855 861 133 693 909 092 179 297
BEE interest-bearing borrowings 12 44 120 – 44 120 –
BEE preference shares 13 382 200 – 382 200 –
BEE shareholder’s loan 14 43 528 – 43 528 –
BEE preference share dividend accrual 13 236 466 – 236 466 –
Trade and other payables 16 142 004 133 693 190 693 178 081
Taxation payable 7 543 – 12 085 1 216

Total liabili es 1 416 549 1 330 265 1 233 023 1 324 055

Total equity and liabilities 2 350 860 2 202 093 1 915 389 1 933 062

at 30 June 2017
STATEMENTS of nancial posi on
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STATEMENTS of comprehensive income
for the year ended 30 June 2017 

Group Company
R000 Note 2017 2016 2017 2016

Revenue 1 520 410 1 493 163 1 382 226 1 343 506
Administration and marketing costs (94 844) (98 019) (89 452) (91 857)
BEE transaction charges 17 (587) (858) (587) (858)
Operating costs excluding depreciation (825 850) (773 490) (743 844) (722 003)

599 129 620 796 548 343 528 788
Depreciation and amortisation (102 779) (96 399) (94 554) (87 871)
Results from operating activities 17 496 350 524 397 453 789 440 917
Interest income 19.1 6 603 2 268 13 276 11 888
Interest expense 19.2 (77 558) (74 523) (77 530) (74 523)
Profit before taxation 425 395 452 142 389 535 378 282
Taxation 20 (130 254) (136 854) (119 484) (114 234)
Profit for the year 295 141 315 288 270 051 264 048
Other comprehensive income
Items that will never be reclassified to profit or loss
Defined-benefit plan remeasurements 24 (573) 6 827 (573) 6 827
Income tax on other comprehensive income 160 (1 912) 160 (1 912)
Items that are or may be reclassified to profit or loss
Foreign currency translation differences (35 870) 34 093

Total comprehensive income for the year 258 858 354 296 269 638 268 963
Earnings per share (cents)
– basic 21 809,8 868,3
Diluted earnings per share (cents)
– basic 21 807,5 862,9



for the year ended 30 June 2017
STATEMENTS of cash ows

Group Company
R000 Note 2017 2016 2017 2016

Cash generated by operations 26.1 608 697 654 621 532 726 577 272
Interest received 6 603 2 268 13 276 9 558
Interest paid (35 915) (37 593) (35 887) (37 593)
Taxation paid 26.2 (117 034) (129 657) (95 689) (104 474)
Dividends paid 22 (192 955) (184 316) (192 859) (184 497)
Cash inflows from operating activities 269 396 305 323 221 567 260 266
Cash utilised in investing activities (267 630) (191 893) (34 877) (160 513)
Investment to maintain operations 26.3 (38 008) (81 963) (34 442) (80 203)
Investment to expand operations 26.4 (164 353) (110 345) (346) (80 535)
Expenditure refundable on operating leases (65 268) – – –
Investments and loans 26.5 (200) – (200) (3)
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 26.3 199 415 111 228
Cash inflows/(outflows) from financing activities 16 905 (40 659) (174 095) (54 309)
Proceeds on issue of shares 11 419 3 956 11 419 3 956
Purchase of incentive scheme shares (29 074) (43 525) (29 074) (43 525)
Proceeds from interest-bearing borrowings 50 000 20 000 – –
Repayments of interest-bearing borrowings – – (141 000) –
Redemption of BEE preference shares (15 300) (14 600) (15 300) (14 600)
Distribution by BEE structured entity (140) (140) (140) (140)
Settlement of retirement benefit obligation – (6 350)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 18 671 72 771 12 595 45 444
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 104 309 73 346 28 650 (16 794)
Reclassification of cash and cash equivalents to other 
investments – (56 860)
Effect of movements in exchange rates on other investments 8 663 –
Effect of movements in exchange rates on cash held (15 979) 15 052  

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 115 664 104 309 41 245 28 650
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R000 Note

Share
capital

and
premium

BEE
 investment 

and 
incentive
 scheme

 shares
Other

reserves
Retained
earnings Total

Group
Balance at 30 June 2015 164 002 (515 728) 108 051 971 117 727 442

Total comprehensive income for the year – – 34 093 320 203 354 296
Profit for the year – – – 315 288 315 288
Other comprehensive income
Defined-benefit plan remeasurements, net of tax – – – 4 915 4 915
Foreign currency translation differences – – 34 093 – 34 093
Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity 3 956 (8 500) 2 872 (208 238) (209 910)
Issue of new ordinary shares 9 3 956 – – – 3 956
Incentive scheme shares – (8 500) (11 243) (23 782) (43 525)
Share compensation reserve 10 – – 14 115 – 14 115
Dividends paid 22 – – – (184 316) (184 316)
Distribution by BEE structured entity – – – (140) (140)

Balance at 30 June 2016 167 958 (524 228) 145 016 1 083 082 871 828

Total comprehensive income for the year – – (35 870) 294 728 258 858
Profit for the year – – – 295 141 295 141
Other comprehensive income
Defined-benefit plan remeasurements, net of tax – – – (413) (413)
Foreign currency translation differences – – (35 870) – (35 870)
Other movements – – – (1 095) (1 095)
Deferred tax on settlement and curtailment of defined- 
benefit fund – – – (1 095) (1 095)
Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity 11 419 (2 501) 5 265 (209 463) (195 280)
Issue of new ordinary shares 9 11 419 – – – 11 419
Incentive scheme shares – (2 501) (10 205) (16 368) (29 074)
Share compensation reserve 10 – – 15 470 – 15 470
Dividends paid 22 – – – (192 955) (192 955)
Distribution by BEE structured entity – – – (140) (140)

Balance at 30 June 2017 179 377 (526 729) 114 411 1 167 252 934 311

 

STATEMENTS of changes in equity
for the year ended 30 June 2017 



for the year ended 30 June 2017

R000 Note

Share
capital

and
premium

BEE
 investment 

and 
incentive
 scheme

 shares
Other

reserves
Retained
earnings Total

Company
Balance at 30 June 2015 164 002 (497 050) 106 581 776 602 550 135

Total comprehensive income for the year – – – 268 963 268 963
Profit for the year – – – 264 048 264 048
Other comprehensive income
Defined-benefit plan remeasurements, net of tax – – – 4 915 4 915
Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity 3 956 (8 500) 2 872 (208 419) (210 091)
Issue of new ordinary shares 9 3 956 – – – 3 956
Incentive scheme shares – (8 500) (11 243) (23 782) (43 525)
Share compensation reserve 10 – – 14 115 – 14 115
Dividends paid 22 – – – (184 497) (184 497)
Distribution by BEE structured entity – – – (140) (140)

Balance at 30 June 2016 167 958 (505 550) 109 453 837 146 609 007

Total comprehensive income for the year – – – 269 638 269 638
Profit for the year – – – 270 051 270 051
Other comprehensive income
Defined-benefit plan remeasurements, net of tax – – – (413) (413)
Other movements – – – (1 095) (1 095)
Deferred tax on settlement and curtailment of defined- 
benefit fund – – – (1 095) (1 095)
Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity 11 419 (2 501) 5 265 (209 367) (195 184)
Issue of new ordinary shares 9 11 419 – – – 11 419
Incentive scheme shares – (2 501) (10 205) (16 368) (29 074)
Share compensation reserve 10 – – 15 470 – 15 470
Dividends paid 22 – – – (192 859) (192 859)
Distribution by BEE structured entity – – – (140) (140)

Balance at 30 June 2017 179 377 (508 051) 114 718 896 322 682 366
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Group Company
R000 2017 2016 2017 2016

1. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
At cost
Land 295 764 295 764 1 178 1 178
Buildings 1 614 555 1 619 536 1 395 912 1 393 648
– freehold 1 274 569 1 279 550 1 055 926 1 053 662
– leasehold 339 986 339 986 339 986 339 986
Buildings under construction 227 368 81 525 1 805 1 719
Furniture and equipment 339 796 545 300 270 306 472 513

2 477 483 2 542 125 1 669 201 1 869 058
Accumulated depreciation
Buildings 373 896 330 180 349 519 308 186
– freehold 204 804 183 805 180 427 161 811
– leasehold 169 092 146 375 169 092 146 375
Furniture and equipment 186 565 367 805 140 519 317 176

560 461 697 985 490 038 625 362
Carrying value
Land 295 764 295 764 1 178 1 178
Buildings 1 240 659 1 289 356 1 046 393 1 085 462
– freehold 1 069 765 1 095 745 875 499 891 851
– leasehold 170 894 193 611 170 894 193 611
Buildings under construction 227 368 81 525 1 805 1 719
Furniture and equipment 153 231 177 495 129 787 155 337

1 917 022 1 844 140 1 179 163 1 243 696

 

NOTES to the nancial statements  
for the year ended 30 June 2017



for the year ended 30 June 2017

R000 Land Buildings

Furniture
and

equipment Total

1. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT con nued
Movements for the year
Group – carrying value
Opening balance – 1 July 2015 295 764 1 270 539 173 948 1 740 251
Additions* – 126 727 52 051 178 778
Disposals – – (186) (186)
Depreciation – (42 613) (51 887) (94 500)
Gain on foreign exchange movement – 16 228 3 569 19 797

Closing balance – 30 June 2016 295 764 1 370 881 177 495 1 844 140
Additions* – 160 286 32 055 192 341
Disposals – – (448) (448)
Depreciation – (44 433) (53 251) (97 684)
Loss on foreign exchange movement – (18 707) (2 620) (21 327)

Closing balance – 30 June 2017 295 764 1 468 027 153 231 1 917 022
Company – carrying value
Opening balance – 1 July 2015 1 178 1 029 661 151 772 1 182 611
Additions* – 96 917 50 291 147 208
Disposals – – (151) (151)
Depreciation – (39 397) (46 575) (85 972)

Closing balance – 30 June 2016 1 178 1 087 181 155 337 1 243 696

Additions* – 2 350 22 746 25 096
Disposals – – (101) (101)
Depreciation – (41 333) (48 195) (89 528)

Closing balance – 30 June 2017 1 178 1 048 198 129 787 1 179 163

At 30 June 2017 properties with a carrying amount of R163,2 million (2016: R166,6 million) are subject to a registered bond to secure 
bank loans (refer to note 11).

A register of the land and buildings is available for inspection at the registered office of the company, a copy of which will be supplied 
to members of the public on request.
* Interest was capitalised in additions to buildings during the current and prior years (refer to note 19). 
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Group Company
R000 2017 2016 2017 2016

2. INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL
At cost
Software development costs 54 412 44 392 54 084 44 392
Goodwill 3 418 3 418 3 418 3 418

57 830 47 810 57 502 47 810

Accumulated amortisation and impairment
Software development costs 7 344 2 252 7 278 2 252
Goodwill – – – –

7 344 2 252 7 278 2 252

Carrying value
Software development costs 47 068 42 140 46 806 42 140
Goodwill 3 418 3 418 3 418 3 418

50 486 45 558 50 224 45 558



for the year ended 30 June 2017

R000

Software
development

 cost Goodwill Total

2. INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL con nued

Movements for the year
Group – carrying value
Opening balance – 1 July 2015 29 160 3 418 32 578
Additions 14 879 – 14 879
Amortisation (1 899) – (1 899)

Closing balance – 30 June 2016 42 140 3 418 45 558
Additions 10 020 – 10 020 
Amortisation (5 095) – (5 095) 
Gain on foreign exchange movement 3 – 3
Closing balance – 30 June 2017 47 068 3 418 50 486 
Company – carrying value
Opening balance – 1 July 2015 29 160 3 418 32 578
Additions 14 879 – 14 879
Amortisation (1 899) – (1 899)
Closing balance – 30 June 2016 42 140 3 418 45 558
Additions 9 692 – 9 692 
Amortisation (5 026) – (5 026) 
Closing balance – 30 June 2017 46 806 3 418 50 224 

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill has been allocated to the Courtyard Hotels acquired and assessed as a single 
cash-generating unit (“CGU”). The recoverable amount was estimated at R137,350 million based on the present value of future 
earnings using a price-earnings model. 

A price to earnings ratio of 18,7, being the average over a five-year period, was applied to budgeted earnings. The key assumptions 
used in determining the budgeted earnings are average occupancy and room rate. Average occupancy is determined by assessing 
historic performance and current market trends, while room rates are in line with the group’s rate policy. No impairment loss was 
identified in the current year.

SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS
An analysis of the resultant effect on the value of the CGU for changes in the key valuation assumptions is presented below:

CGU value R000 Movement Increase Decrease

Budgeted earnings 1% 1 374 (1 374)
Price to earnings ratio 0,5 times 3 672 (3 672)
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Company

R000

Issued
share

capital
 %

held 2017 2016

3. INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES  
Shares at cost less accumulated impairment losses
Anchor Park Investments 105 Proprietary Limited R100 70 * *
Budget Hotels Proprietary Limited R100 100 1 073 1 073
City Lodge Hotels (Africa) Proprietary Limited R100 100 * *
City Lodge Hotels (Botswana) Proprietary Limited BWP1 100 * *
CLHG Mozambique Lda MZN1 000 000 1 3 3
CLHG Tanzania Limited TZS100 000 000 0,1 * *
Courtyard Management Company Proprietary Limited R100 100 * *
Fairview Hotel Limited, Kenya KES2 600 000 100 383 465 383 465
Gallic Courtyard (Arcadia) Share Block Proprietary Limited R1 518 100 1 1
Gallic Courtyard (Bruma Lake) Share Block Proprietary Limited R2 584 100 3 3
Gallic Courtyard (Rosebank) Share Block Limited R3 816 100 4 4
Gallic Courtyard (Sandown) Share Block Limited R3 067 100 3 3
Newshelf 892 Proprietary Limited# R100
Newshelf 935 Proprietary Limited# R100
Property Lodging Investments Proprietary Limited R100 100 2 000 2 000
Vuwa Hotels Proprietary Limited# R100

386 552 386 552
Loan
Property Lodging Investments Proprietary Limited 62 800 62 800

Interest in subsidiaries 449 352 449 352

The loan is unsecured, bears interest at 12% per annum  
(2016: 12%) and is repayable on demand on or before 31 July 
2023. There is, however, no intention to request repayment 
during the next 12 months.
Amounts included in other receivables and payables
Amounts due by subsidiaries 33 022 10 696
Amounts due to subsidiaries (72 257) (57 648)

These amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

The company also has an indirect, 100% shareholding in City Lodge Holdings (Share Block) Proprietary Limited, City Lodge Hotels 
(Namibia) Proprietary Limited and City Lodge Hotels (Uganda) Limited.

*Less than R1 000.
# City Lodge has guaranteed the funding of these BEE entities, resulting in their incorporation.

The majority shareholder is City Lodge Hotels (Africa) Proprietary Limited.



for the year ended 30 June 2017

Company
R000 2017 2016

4. LOAN RECEIVABLE
City Lodge 10th anniversary employees’ share trust 34 000 34 000
Balance at beginning of year 34 000 31 670
Notional credit to interest received in the current year – 2 330

The City Lodge 10th anniversary employees’ share trust loan is secured by the pledge of 508 974 (2016: 526 549) shares having a 
market value of R71 322 527 (2016: R81 888 900), is interest-free and is repayable upon demand by the company at any time after 
the expiry of 20 years from the date of adoption of the scheme, being 18 December 1995, or in the event of the share price falling 
below R34,00 per share. There is, however, no intention to request repayment during the next 12 months.

In line with the requirements of IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, the City Lodge 10th anniversary employees’ share trust 
has been consolidated in the current and prior year. 

The loan amount is measured at amortised cost. The future value and nominal recoverable amount of the loan is R34,0 million.

Group

R000 2017 2016

5. DEFERRED TAXATION
Movement in deferred taxation assets
Balance at beginning of year 5 747 4 745
Current year temporary differences – profit or loss 11 110 881
Reclassification of prior year deferred tax liability (6 847) –
Foreign exchange movement 775 121

Balance at end of year 10 785 5 747

Analysis of deferred taxation assets
Capital allowances (1 964) 3 372
Deductible accruals 7 265 –
Operating lease accrual 2 335 2 045
Non-deductible accruals 937 750
Prepayments (120) (119)
Tax loss 2 565 –
Unrealised foreign exchange gain (233) (301)

10 785 5 747
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Group Company
R000 2017 2016 2017 2016

5. DEFERRED TAXATION con nued
Movement in deferred taxation liabilities
Balance at beginning of year 144 685 127 635 122 165 106 055
Current year temporary differences – profit or loss 12 398 13 818 12 926 12 878
 – other comprehensive income 935 1 912 935 1 912
Acquisition through business combination – 1 320 – 1 320
Reclassification to deferred tax asset (6 847) –

Balance at end of year 151 171 144 685 136 026 122 165

Analysis of deferred taxation liabilities
Capital allowances 188 888 185 134 173 743 162 886
Defined-benefit pension scheme† – (2 939) – (2 939)
Income received in advance (4 858) (4 607) (4 858) (4 607)
BEE shareholder’s loan 1 812 3 390 1 812 3 390
Operating lease accrual (22 093) (23 070) (22 093) (23 070)
Prepayments 2 015 1 984 2 015 1 984
Share options (4 549) (4 887) (4 549) (4 887)
Non-deductible accruals (10 044) (10 602) (10 044) (10 592)
Unrealised foreign exchange gain – 282

151 171 144 685 136 026 122 165

The expected manner of recovery of the deferred tax asset 
and settlement of the liability will be through use.
The tax rate used to calculate the deferred tax balance is: 
South Africa – 28% (2016: 28%)
Botswana – 22% (2016: 22%)
Kenya – 30% (2016: 30%)
Tanzania – 30% (2016: 30%)

6. INVENTORIES
Food, liquor and beverages 6 845 7 734 3 830 3 682

†Items included in other comprehensive income.



for the year ended 30 June 2017

Group Company
R000 2017 2016 2017 2016

7. OTHER RECEIVABLES
Loans due from related parties (refer to note 28) 33 022 10 696
Prepayments 14 318 11 741 10 614 10 352
Sundry receivables 116 231 24 207 23 157 17 687

130 549 35 948 66 793 38 735

The group has spent R65 million (included in sundry receivables) 
in respect of the construction of buildings to be leased. It is 
funding the expenditure during construction and will be refunded 
the entire amount, by the landlords, on completion.

8. OTHER INVESTMENTS
24 217 56 860

Balance at beginning of year 56 860 –
Cash and cash equivalents transferred – 56 860
Effect of movement in exchange rates (8 663) –
Impairment loss (23 980) –

Other investments comprise bank balances of KES384,8 million held 
with Chase Bank Limited (in receivership). The bank was put under 
receivership on 7 April 2016 by the Central Bank of Kenya and was 
reopened on 27 April 2016 under a receiver manager. No interest 
is currently earned on these balances.

Owing to the uncertainty in the timing and amount of funds 
to be recovered, the group deemed it prudent to provide for 
an impairment of 50% of the balance held. In assessing the 
recoverability thereof, the directors considered representations 
made by the receiver manager of the Central Bank of Kenya and 
the fact that the bank continues to operate normally under 
receivership. It is currently anticipated that the process of 
appointing a buyer for the bank will be completed by 
30 September 2017.

NOTES to the nancial statements con nued

120 City Lodge Hotel Group 
Integrated Report 2017



121City Lodge Hotel Group 
Integrated Report 2017

Group Company
R000 2017 2016 2017 2016

9. SHARE CAPITAL AND PREMIUM
Share capital
Authorised
50 000 000 ordinary shares of 10 cents each 5 000 5 000 5 000 5 000

Issued
43 572 293 (2016: 43 406 753) ordinary shares of 10 cents each 4 357 4 341 4 357 4 341
Balance at beginning of year 43 406 753 (2016: 43 346 593) 
ordinary shares of 10 cents each 4 341 4 335 4 341 4 335
Options exercised during the period 165 540 (2016: 60 160)  
of 10 cents each 16 6 16 6
Share premium 175 020 163 617 175 020 163 617
Balance at beginning of year 163 617 159 667 163 617 159 667
Premium on issue of new ordinary shares 11 403 3 950 11 403 3 950

179 377 167 958 179 377 167 958

10. OTHER RESERVES
Share-based payment reserve 87 777 82 512 87 777 82 512
Balance at beginning of year 82 512 79 640 82 512 79 640
Expense for the year – share incentive scheme (refer to note 17) 15 470 14 115 15 470 14 115
Reserve transferred to retained earnings on exercise of vested rights (10 205) (11 243) (10 205) (11 243)
The share-based payment reserve relates to the accumulated cost  
for the future settlement of obligations arising from the share  
incentive schemes.

Equity component of BEE shareholder’s loan 26 941 26 941 26 941 26 941
The equity component of the shareholder’s loan relates to the 
equity contribution received from Vuwa Investments Proprietary 
Limited in respect of the BEE transaction concluded in July 2008.

Foreign currency translation reserve (307) 35 563
Balance at beginning of year 35 563 1 470
Foreign currency translation differences (35 870) 34 093
The translation reserve comprises all foreign currency differences 
arising from the translation of the financial statements of 
foreign operations.

114 411 145 016 114 718 109 453
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Group Company
R000 2017 2016 2017 2016

11. INTEREST BEARING BORROWINGS
Secured bank loan
The Loan A is a revolver facility of R250 million in total 
and bears interest at the one, three or six-month JIBAR plus 
1,75 (2016: 1,75) percentage points, depending on the election 
made upon drawdown. Outstanding loan capital is repayable by 
2020.

250 000 250 000 – –

The Loan B is a revolver facility of R200 million in total and bears 
interest at the one, three or six-month JIBAR plus 2,45 
(2016: 2,45) percentage points, depending on the election made 
upon drawdown. Outstanding loan capital is repayable by 2021.

70 000 20 000 – –

Interest repayments are made according to the interest period 
selected on the drawdown notice.

The loan facility has been granted to City Lodge Hotels (Africa) 
Proprietary Limited.

The loan is secured over land and buildings with a carrying 
amount of R163,2 million (2016: R166,6 million), and has been 
guaranteed by City Lodge Hotels Limited.

The required bank covenants have been met.

Unsecured loan
This loan to City Lodge Hotels Limited from City Lodge Hotels 
(Africa) Proprietary Limited is made under the same interest and 
repayment terms as Loan A above. It was raised to facilitate the 
transfer of the borrowings from the former to the latter as part of 
the facility put in place to fund future expansion (refer to note 28).

109 000 250 000

320 000 270 000 109 000 250 000

Less: Amounts to be repaid within one year – – – –

Non-current liabilities 320 000 270 000 109 000 250 000

12. BEE INTEREST BEARING BORROWINGS
The loans are secured by a guarantee provided by City Lodge 
Hotels Limited.

44 120 44 120 44 120 44 120

The loans bear interest at the six-month JIBAR rate plus 
2,5 percentage points. Interest repayments are made every 
six months in arrears.

The loan capital is repayable by 31 December 2017.
44 120 44 120 44 120 44 120

Less: Amounts to be repaid within one year (44 120) – (44 120) –
Non-current liabilities – 44 120 – 44 120
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Group Company
R000 2017 2016 2017 2016

13. BEE PREFERENCE SHARES
Proceeds from the issue of redeemable preference shares 440 700 440 700 440 700 440 700
Redeemed during prior years (43 200) (28 600) (43 200) (28 600)
Redeemed during current year (15 300) (14 600) (15 300) (14 600)

382 200 397 500 382 200 397 500

On 8 July 2008, the City Lodge group effected a Black Economic Empowerment scheme with Vuwa Hotels Proprietary Limited, 
Newshelf 935 Proprietary Limited and Newshelf 892 Proprietary Limited. In terms of the scheme, 15% (6 390 362) of the then issued 
share capital of City Lodge was acquired by the three structured entities in terms of a scheme of arrangement. A and B cumulative 
redeemable preference shares were issued by the structured entities to fund a portion of the purchase price of the investment 
in City Lodge Hotels Limited. These have been guaranteed by City Lodge resulting in the deemed control of the structured entities 
by the company and their incorporation for accounting purposes. Standard Bank of South Africa subscribed for R195,0 million 
amortising, seven-year A preference shares bearing interest at 70% of the prime interest rate and R245,7 million cumulative zero 
coupon five-year B preference shares bearing interest at 71% of the prime interest rate. The final redemption date is 31 December 
2017. Ordinary dividends received by the structured entities must be used to service and repay the preference shares. There is a  
lock-in period applicable to the disposal of shares held by Vuwa Hotels Proprietary Limited until 31 December 2017, whereby shares 
may only be disposed of to black persons. The fair value of the shares held amounts to R895,5 million on 30 June 2017.

A once-off, share-based, equity-settled option expense was recognised during the 2009 financial year amounting to R25,84 million.

An amount of R239,3 million (2016: R203,3 million) was accrued in respect of preference dividends payable as at 30 June 2017. Of 
this, R2,9 million (2016: R3,1 million) in respect of A preference shares is included under trade and other payables (refer to note 16) 
due in September 2017 and R236,5 million (2016: R200,2 million) in respect of B preference shares is due in December 2017.

Group Company
R000 2017 2016 2017 2016

Voluntary redemption of A and B preference shares may be 
made, with full redemption of the preference shares required 
by 31 December 2017. The minimum scheduled redemptions 
in respect of A and B preference shares are as follows:
– not later than one year 382 200 – 382 200 –
– between one and five years – 397 500 – 397 500
– later than five years – – – –
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Group Company
R000 2017 2016 2017 2016

14. BEE SHAREHOLDER’S LOAN
Vuwa Investments Proprietary Limited
Loan granted 50 000 50 000 50 000 50 000
Equity component of BEE shareholder’s loan (37 418) (37 418) (37 418) (37 418)
Notional interest expense – prior years 25 311 20 406 25 311 20 406
Notional interest expense – current year 5 635 4 905 5 635 4 905

The BEE shareholder’s loan represents the equity contribution by 
Vuwa Investments Proprietary Limited to the Vuwa structured entity 
as part funding to purchase shares in City Lodge Hotels Limited. 

The loan is measured at amortised cost of R43,528 million 
(2016: R37,893 million). The notional debit to interest expense  
at a rate of 14,35% per annum was R5 635 (2016: R4 905). 
The future value of the loan is R50 million.

The loan is unsecured, bears notional interest at 14,35%, and 
is repayable on demand after 31 December 2017.

43 528 37 893 43 528 37 893

15. OTHER NON CURRENT LIABILITIES
Operating lease accrual 89 517 91 709 78 905 82 415
Defined-benefit obligation (refer to note 24) – 10 494 – 10 494

89 517 102 203 78 905 92 909

16. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Trade payables 8 631 7 951 2 455 6 395
Loans due to related parties (refer to note 28) 72 257 57 648
Sundry accruals 79 763 78 114 76 555 76 069
Other trade payables 50 750 44 481 36 566 34 822
BEE preference dividend payable 2 860 3 147 2 860 3 147

142 004 133 693 190 693 178 081
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Group Company
R000 2017 2016 2017 2016

17. RESULTS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Is arrived at after charging/(crediting)
Auditors’ remuneration 4 335 4 374 3 546 3 586
Audit fees 3 332 3 082 2 616 2 319
Fees for other services 1 003 1 292 930 1 267
BEE transaction charges 587 858 587 858
Defined-benefit plan expense (refer to note 24) 4 819 10 444 4 819 10 444
Defined-contribution plan expense 21 095 14 713 21 095 14 713
Depreciation and amortisation 102 779 96 399 94 554 87 871
– buildings 44 433 42 613 41 333 39 397
– furniture and equipment 53 251 51 887 48 195 46 575
– computer software 5 095 1 899 5 026 1 899
Food, liquor and beverages 69 512 69 538 53 619 51 685
Gain on settlement and curtailment of defined-benefit fund (11 628) –
Impairment loss on other investments (refer to note 8) 23 980 –
Operating lease rentals 99 474 88 363 119 590 105 713
– land 28 211 23 851 55 179 48 322
– hotel buildings 68 313 60 913 61 461 53 792
– office buildings 2 950 3 599 2 950 3 599
Pre-opening expenses – 2 947 – 2 947
Loss/(profit) on disposal of property, plant and equipment 249 (229) (10) (77)
Salaries, wages and related benefits 350 966 337 476 318 650 305 435
– employed 305 200 294 411 274 338 263 799
– subcontracted 45 766 43 065 44 312 41 636
Rent paid/(received) 2 085 (1 670) 2 085 (1 670)
Share-based payment expense (refer to note 24) 15 470 14 115 15 470 14 115
– City Lodge 10th anniversary employees’ share trust 4 306 3 158 4 306 3 158
– City Lodge bonus share plan 7 167 6 006 7 167 6 006
– City Lodge deferred bonus plan – 52 – 52
– City Lodge share appreciation rights scheme 3 997 4 899 3 997 4 899
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18. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

R000
Basic

salary

Per-
formance

bonus

Fringe
benefits

and
allow-
ances

Pension
fund

contri-
butions

Total
annual

remune-
ration

Current
year

share-
based

payment
expense* Total

Executive directors
2017
C Ross 4 478 1 801 439 717 7 435 3 084 10 519
A C Widegger 3 467 1 387 34 555 5 443 2 213 7 656

7 945 3 188 473 1 272 12 878 5 297 18 175
2016
C Ross 4 159 3 354 63 665 8 241 3 110 11 351
A C Widegger 3 238 2 596 34 518 6 386 2 228 8 614

7 397 5 950 97 1 183 14 627 5 338 19 965

Executive directors are full-time salaried employees, engaged on the company’s standard terms and conditions of employment.
*This expense represents the IFRS 2 costs for the year of any option or right given or reversed (refer to note 24).

Non-executive directors
Fees

R000 2017 2016
G G Huysamer 340 312
F W J Kilbourn 495 478
S Marutlulle* 165 –
N Medupe 398 366
S G Morris 485 447
B T Ngcuka (payment made to Vuwa Investments Proprietary Limited) 890 830
V M Rague 268 100
K I M Shongwe 338 310
W Tlou – 184

3 379 3 027

* Appointed on 1 October 2016.
 Resigned on 11 May 2016.

No other payments were made to directors.
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18. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS con nued

Executive committee
In line with the requirements of the Companies Act and King III, the group discloses the remuneration paid to prescribed officers who 
are defined as the group’s executive committee. Prescribed officers are full-time salaried employees, engaged on the company’s 
standard terms and conditions of employment.

R000
Basic

salary

Per-
formance

bonus

Fringe
benefits

and
allow-
ances

Pension
fund

contri-
butions

Total
annual

remune-
ration

Current
year

share-
based

payment
expense* Total

2017
A J Balabanoff 1 839 365 185 294 2 683 463 3 146
A W Dooley 1 549 590 32 163 2 334 382 2 716
M S Kobilski 1 565 374 133 250 2 322 385 2 707
N R B Parbhoo 1 338 415 29 214 1 996 317 2 313
R V Phinn 1 747 257 27 279 2 310 427 2 737
R Ruthven 1 176 257 58 123 1 614 204 1 818
L G Sangweni-Siddo 1 562 340 5 164 2 071 150 2 221
P M Schoeman 1 033 109 10 108 1 260 19 1 279
P Tate 1 863 365 17 298 2 543 450 2 993
M van Heerden 1 311 430 61 138 1 940 232 2 172

14 983 3 502 557 2 031 21 073 3 029 24 102
2016
A J Balabanoff 1 716 613 41 275 2 645 443 3 088
G D Bisset 566 – 13 91 670 – 670
A W Dooley 1 446 445 32 152 2 075 370 2 445
M S Kobilski 1 463 565 2 234 2 264 367 2 631
N R B Parbhoo 1 249 395 29 200 1 873 311 2 184
R V Phinn 1 612 559 27 258 2 456 403 2 859
L G Sangweni-Siddo• 1 146 244 1 76 1 467 – 1 467
P M Schoeman 1 451 474 15 152 2 092 362 2 454
P Tate 1 741 536 17 278 2 572 440 3 012

12 390 3 831 177 1 716 18 114 2 696 20 810

* This expense represents the IFRS 2 costs for the year of any option or right given or reversed (refer to note 24).
Appointed on 1 July 2016.

 Resigned during the year.
• Appointed on 16 September 2015.
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18. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS con nued

Date of
grant

Grant
price

(R)

Holding at
30 June

2016 Exercised

Holding
at

30 June
2017

Lapse
date

Number
vesting at

30 June
2017

Share appreciation rights
C Ross 1/09/2011 63,61 79 163 (79 163) – 1/09/2018 –

1/09/2012 85,66 92 313 (92 313) – 1/09/2019 –
1/09/2013 120,83 39 929 – 39 929 1/09/2020 39 929
1/09/2014 123,17 42 108 – 42 108 1/09/2021 –
1/09/2015 143,99 39 081 – 39 081 1/09/2022 –
1/09/2016 164,33 – – 36 812 1/09/2023 –

A C Widegger 1/09/2010 74,62 39 155 (39 155) – 1/09/2017 –
1/09/2011 63,61 53 905 – 53 905 1/09/2018 53 905
1/09/2012 85,66 62 110 – 62 110 1/09/2019 62 110
1/09/2013 120,83 26 136 – 26 136 1/09/2020 26 136
1/09/2014 123,17 27 539 – 27 539 1/09/2021 –
1/09/2015 143,99 25 207 – 25 207 1/09/2022 –
1/09/2016 164,33 – – 23 633 1/09/2023 –

526 646 (210 631) 376 460 182 080
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18. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS con nued

Date of
grant

Exercise
price

(R)

Holding at
30 June

2016 Exercised

Holding at
30 June

2017
Lapse 

date

Number
vesting at

30 June
2017

Directors’ share options
C Ross 9/11/2006 58,59 52 650 (52 650) – 9/11/2016 –

8/05/2007 80,31 28 000 (28 000) – 8/05/2017 –
80 650 (80 650) – –

A C Widegger 9/11/2006 58,59 31 590 (31 590) – 9/11/2016 –
8/05/2007 80,31 16 800 (16 800) – 8/05/2017 –

48 390 (48 390) – –

Date of
award

Number
of 

restricted
shares

Share
acquisition

price (R)
Vesting

date

Restricted share plan – bonus shares
A J Balabanoff 5/09/2016 1 492 164,79 4/09/2019
A W Dooley 5/09/2016 1 085 164,79 4/09/2019
M S Kobilski 5/09/2016 1 377 164,79 4/09/2019
N R B Parbhoo 5/09/2016 962 164,79 4/09/2019
R V Phinn 5/09/2016 1 362 164,79 4/09/2019
C Ross 5/09/2016 10 210 164,79 4/09/2019
R Ruthven 5/09/2016 496 164,79 4/09/2019
L G Sangweni-Siddo 5/09/2016 595 164,79 4/09/2019
P M Schoeman 5/09/2016 1 155 164,79 4/09/2019
P Tate 5/09/2016 1 306 164,79 4/09/2019
M C van Heerden 5/09/2016 557 164,79 4/09/2019
A C Widegger 5/09/2016 7 902 164,79 4/09/2019

 28 499  
Lapsed during the year (1 155)

27 344

 Resigned during the year.
Appointed on 1 July 2016.
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18. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS con nued

Date of
award

Number
of 

restricted
shares

Share
acquisition

price (R)
Vesting

date

Restricted share plan – bonus shares
A J Balabanoff 4/09/2015 2 242 148,31 3/09/2018
A W Dooley 4/09/2015 1 824 148,31 3/09/2018
M S Kobilski 4/09/2015 1 622 148,31 3/09/2018
N R B Parbhoo 4/09/2015 1 256 148,31 3/09/2018
R V Phinn 4/09/2015 2 094 148,31 3/09/2018
C Ross 4/09/2015 11 488 148,31 3/09/2018
P M Schoeman 4/09/2015 1 650 148,31 3/09/2018
P Tate 4/09/2015 2 143 148,31 3/09/2018
A C Widegger 4/09/2015 9 016 148,31 3/09/2018

33 335
Lapsed during the year (1 650)

31 685

Restricted share plan – bonus shares
A J Balabanoff 8/10/2014 1 594 124,41 7/10/2017
A W Dooley 8/10/2014 1 432 124,41 7/10/2017
M S Kobilski 8/10/2014 1 455 124,41 7/10/2017
N R B Parbhoo 8/10/2014 1 267 124,41 7/10/2017
R V Phinn 8/10/2014 1 428 124,41 7/10/2017
C Ross 8/10/2014 11 386 124,41 7/10/2017
P M Schoeman 8/10/2014 1 337 124,41 7/10/2017
P Tate 8/10/2014 1 594 124,41 7/10/2017
A C Widegger 8/10/2014 9 020 124,41 7/10/2017

30 513
Lapsed during the year (1 337)

29 176

No consideration was received by the company on the award of the restricted share plan ordinary shares (refer to note 24).

 Resigned during the year.
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Group Company
R000 2017 2016 2017 2016

19. INTEREST
19.1 Interest income

Bank interest 6 598 2 055 5 735 1 485
IAS 39 – Effective Interest (refer to note 4) – 2 330
Interest from subsidiaries 7 536 7 860
Other 5 213 5 213

6 603 2 268 13 276 11 888

19.2 Interest expense
Long-term borrowings 33 243 26 358 23 736 25 912
Short-term borrowings 28 27 – 27
IAS 39 – Effective Interest (refer to note 14) 5 635 4 905 5 635 4 905
Preference dividend 48 159 44 368 48 159 44 368

87 065 75 658 77 530 75 212
Interest capitalised to property, plant and equipment (9 507) (1 135) – (689)

77 558 74 523 77 530 74 523

Interest is capitalised to property, plant and equipment 
at 9,55% per annum. 

20. TAXATION
Current 128 980 123 821 106 558 101 416
Adjustment for prior years – 69 – (60)
Dividends withholding tax (14) 27
Deferred – current 1 288 12 937 12 926 12 878

130 254 136 854 119 484 114 234

Reconciliation of taxation rate
Domestic statutory tax rate 28 28 28 28
Adjusted for:
– BEE transactions 3,5 3,1 3,8 3,6
– exempt income (0,1) – – –
– effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions 0,1 0,2
– disallowable expenses 0,4 0,3 0,4 0,1
–  deductible expense for share appreciation right scheme 

shares purchased during the year (1,3) (1,3) (1,5) (1,5)
Effective rate of taxation 30,6 30,3 30,7 30,2

21. BASIC, HEADLINE AND NORMALISED EARNINGS PER SHARE
The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share at 30 June 2017 was based on profit for the year of R295,141 million 
(2016: R315,288 million), and a weighted average number of shares of 36 448 000 (2016: 36 309 000) for basic earnings per share, 
and 36 548 000 (2016: 36 537 000) for diluted earnings per share.
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Group
R000 2017 2016

21. BASIC, HEADLINE AND NORMALISED EARNINGS PER SHARE con nued
Determination of headline earnings and normalised headline earnings
Profit for the year 295 141 315 288
Loss/(profit) on sale of property, plant and equipment 249 (229)
Taxation effect (75) 67

Headline earnings 295 315 315 126
BEE transaction charges 587 858
Notional interest charge on BEE shareholder s loan 5 635 4 905
Interest on BEE interest-bearing borrowings 4 597 4 248
Preference dividends paid/payable by the BEE entities 48 159 44 368
Deferred tax on BEE transactions (1 578) (1 373)
Notional interest income on 10th anniversary employees’ share trust loan – 2 330
10th anniversary employees’ share trust transaction charges and dividends withholding tax 7 49
IFRS 2 share-based payment charge for the 10th anniversary employees’ share trust 4 306 3 158
Impairment of other investment in Chase Bank Kenya (net of tax) 16 786 –
Gain on settlement and curtailment of defined-benefit fund (11 629) –

Normalised headline earnings 362 185 373 669

Number of shares for EPS calculations (000)
Undiluted weighted average 36 448 36 309
Restricted share plan/bonus shares 88 84
Share appreciation rights 12 51
Share options – 93

Diluted 36 548 36 537

Number of shares for normalised EPS calculations (000)
Undiluted weighted average 36 448 36 309
BEE shares treated as treasury shares 6 390 6 390
10th anniversary employees’ share trust treated as treasury shares 509 527

Normalised undiluted weighted average 43 347 43 226
Restricted share plan 88 84
Share appreciation rights 12 51
Share options – 93

Normalised diluted weighted average 43 447 43 454

Headline earnings per share (cents) 810,2 867,9
Diluted headline earnings per share (cents) 808,0 862,5
Normalised headline earnings per share (cents) 835,5 864,5
Normalised diluted headline earnings per share (cents) 833,6 859,9
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Group Company
R000 2017 2016 2017 2016

22. DIVIDENDS
Number 55 of 248,0 cents per share (2016: 230,0 cents) 
declared on 12 August 2016 and paid on 9 September 2016 107 662 99 702 107 662 99 702
Number 56 of 272,0 cents per share (2015: 269,0 cents) 
declared on 16 February 2017 and paid on 10 March 2017 118 427 116 683 118 427 116 683
Dividends attributable to treasury shares (33 134) (32 069) (33 230) (31 888)

192 955 184 316 192 859 184 497

On 16 August 2017, dividend number 57 of 228,0 cents per share 
in respect of the year ended 30 June 2017 was declared totalling 
R99 344 828 payable on 11 September 2017. These financial 
statements do not reflect this dividend payable.

23. COMMITMENTS
Capital
Authorised
– contracted 503 529 389 075 6 300 7 500
– not contracted 152 048 469 465 119 248 30 840

655 577 858 540 125 548 38 340

Future capital expenditure will be financed out of funds generated 
from operations and external borrowings and it is anticipated that 
approximately R629 million will be spent by 30 June 2018.

Operating leases as lessee
The company is party to various operating leases of periods 
between 20 and 99 years in respect of land and hotel buildings 
and five years, in respect of office buildings.
Schedule of minimum lease payments in respect of land, hotel 
building and office building leases:
– not later than one year 102 761 95 145 97 050 89 607
– between one and five years 320 226 361 264 293 095 334 956
– later than five years 487 001 546 285 430 699 480 102

909 988 1 002 694 820 844 904 665
Guarantees
Total financial institution-backed guarantees provided to third 
parties on behalf of the company amounted to R451,7 million. 
The directors do not believe any exposure to loss is likely.
The issued guarantees have the following expiry dates:
– not later than one year 439 050 62 133 439 050 62 133
– between one and five years 12 449 397 500 12 449 397 500
– later than five years 203 12 652 203 12 652
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24. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 
Retirement benefit information
The group and company provide retirement benefits for 5% (2016: 6%) of the group’s permanent employees through a defined-benefit 
pension scheme that is subject to the Pension Funds Act, 1956, as amended. This fund was closed to new membership on 28 February 
2004 and a new defined-contribution fund was established. Company contributions to this new fund are fixed at a rate of 10,5% of 
pensionable salaries and 44% (2016: 38%) of the group’s permanent employees are members. Employees who are not members of 
the above funds are members of the appropriate industry fund.

A statutory actuarial valuation of the defined-benefit fund was undertaken every three years. At 31 July 2016, the effective date of the 
most recent statutory actuarial valuation, the retirement benefit fund was found to have a surplus of R3,7 million.

The fund was managed by a board of trustees, consisting of a combination of member elected and employer appointed trustees. The 
board has a fiduciary duty to act in the best interest of all stakeholders.

The employer was responsible to fund the balance of the costs of paying the defined benefits. Adverse fund experience (eg higher than 
expected salary increases or lower than expected investment returns) therefore exposed the employer to higher than expected future 
required contributions.

The winding down of the fund was approved by the Financial Services Board on 10 January 2017. All active members and their 
corresponding liabilities were transferred out of the fund, to a defined-contribution fund with effect from 1 July 2015. It was further 
agreed that any surplus in the fund would be allocated to transferring members upon liquidation of this fund. The valuation was 
performed on a winding-up basis given the registrar’s approval.

The estimate in terms of IAS 19, as at 31 December 2016, as shown below, indicates that the fund had a surplus of R4 143 000 
(2016: R10 494 000 deficit). Any movements between the valuation date and the approval date were considered not to be significant. 
The actuarial loss due to change in demographic assumptions was Rnil (2016: Rnil). The actuarial gains and (losses) due to changes in 
financial assumptions and experience were R9 405 000 and (R3 591 000) respectively.

Group and company
R000 2017 2016

Current estimated employee benefit obligation:
Present value of obligation – (159 536)
Fair value of plan assets – 149 042
Liability at year-end (refer to note 15) – (10 494)
Recognised in profit or loss:
Current service cost (4 248) (9 078)
Interest on obligation (8 798) (14 760)
Expected return on plan assets 8 227 13 394

(4 819) (10 444)
Recognised in the statement of financial position:
Opening net liability (10 494) (15 062)
Expense (4 819) (10 444)
Contributions paid 4 257 8 185
Amount recognised in other comprehensive income 3 570 6 827
Gain on settlement and curtailment of defined-benefit fund 11 629 –
Surplus allocated to members (4 143) –
Closing net liability – (10 494)
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Group and company
R000 2017 2016

24. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS con nued
Retirement benefit information continued
Movement in the liability for defined-benefit obligations:
Liability for defined-benefit obligations at 1 July 159 536 159 284
Service cost 4 248 9 078
Interest cost 8 798 14 760
Benefits paid (13 279) (17 799)
Benefits paid on transfer of fund (153 489) –
Actuarial gain (5 814) (5 787)
Liability for defined-benefit obligations at 30 June – 159 536
Movement in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets at 1 July 149 042 144 222
Expected return on plan assets 8 227 13 394
Contributions 4 258 8 185
Benefits paid (1 651) (17 799)
Benefits paid on transfer of fund (153 489) –
Actuarial (loss)/gain (2 244) 1 040
Surplus allocated to members (4 143) –

Fair value of plan assets at 30 June – 149 042

% %

Plan assets comprise:
Cash 100 100
All assets were held in banker and money market portfolios in anticipation of the transfer of all assets 
and liabilities.

Principal actuarial assumptions at the reporting date:
Discount rate 11,2 11,2
Expected return on plan assets 11,2 11,2
Future salary increases 9,9 10,2
Future pension increases 6,7 6,9
Mortality rates post-retirement PA(90)

 ultimate
 mortality

 table rated 
down by 

1 year

PA(90)
 ultimate

 mortality
 table rated 

down by 
1 year

The expected return on plan assets was set equal to the discount rate. The actual return earned on plan assets for the year was 8,3%.

No sensitivity analysis is presented due to the fact that no further deviation from assumptions would exist after the settlement date.

Medical aid
Certain of the group’s employees are members of the Discovery Health Medical Scheme. There are no obligations for post-retirement 
medical aid contributions.
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24. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS con nued

Share-based payments
E uity settled share appreciation right scheme
The group plan provides for a grant price equal to the 10-day volume weighted average market price of the group’s shares on 
grant date. The vesting period is generally three to five years. The vesting of the share appreciation right (“SAR”) is subject to the 
achievement of specified performance conditions. The performance conditions are that the normalised headline earnings per share 
(“HEPS”) should increase by between the Consumer Price Index (“CPI”) per annum and 2 percentage points per annum above CPI over 
a three-year performance period. 25% of the SAR will vest if the former performance condition is satisfied and 100% of the SAR will 
vest if the latter is satisfied, with linear vesting between them. If the SARs remain unexercised after a period of seven years from grant, 
they expire. Furthermore, unexercised SARs are forfeited if the employee leaves the group before they expire. Fair value is measured 
using an American binomial valuation model. Expected volatilities are 90% based on short, medium and long-term historical volatilities, 
with cognisance taken of market conditions to explain the variance from historical data. No other features, other than disclosed, of the 
option grant was incorporated into the measurement of fair value. The share-based, equity-settled expense for the year ended 
30 June 2017 in profit or loss is R3 997 213 (2016: R4 899 365). 

2017 2016

Number
of SARs

Weighted
average

strike
price

(R)
Number
of SARs

Weighted
average

strike 
price

(R)

Outstanding at beginning of period 771 159 98,68 1 187 563 86,47
Granted during period 106 964 164,33 105 016 143,99
Forfeited during period (29 315) 142,78 (20 642) 98,63
Exercised during period (266 482) 76,10 (500 778) 79,02
Expired during period – – – –

Outstanding at end of period 582 326 104,42 771 159 98,68

Exercisable at end of period 270 060 80,41 443 646 76,25

2017 2016

Average remaining life (years) 3,04 3,28
American binomial model inputs as follows:
Volatility (%) 24 24
Risk-free rate (%) 8,19 8,00
Dividend yield (%) 2,73 2,79
Expected life (years) 7 7
Strike price (Rand) 164,33 143,99
Average share price (Rand) 164,33 143,99
Option price (Rand) 54,81 46,99
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24. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS continued
Share-based payments continued
E uity settled th anni ersary employee share plan
The group plan provides for an annual share distribution equal to half of the financial year’s capital growth, if any, of the portfolio of City 
Lodge shares held by the trust. The distributions to eligible employees (employees in the service of the group for at least one year) are 
equity-settled three months after year-end, provided that the portfolio’s market value at year-end exceeds the market value at the 
previous year-end. Entitlements are forfeited if the employee leaves the group’s service before a distribution takes place. The vesting 
period is one year. Expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical volatility of the group’s share price over the previous 
two years. Fair value is measured using a European binomial valuation model. The share-based, equity-settled expense for the year ended 
30 June 2017 in profit or loss is R4 305 982 (2016: R3 158 246).

2017
Number of

shares

2016
Number of

shares

Outstanding at beginning of period 526 549 549 349
Distributed during period (17 575) (22 800)
Acquired during period – –

Outstanding at end of period 508 974 526 549

2017 2016

Per
share

Total
portfolio

Per
share

Total
portfolio

European binomial model inputs as follows:
Volatility (%) 27 27  23 23
Risk-free rate (%) 7,45 7,45 6,49 6,49
Dividend yield (%) 2,73 2,73 2,56 2,56
Expected life (years) 1 1 1 1
Effective strike price (Rand) 160,88 81 888 900 138,76 73 060 670
Share price (Rand) 155,44 79 121 459 145,02 76 354 018
Effective option price (Rand) 8,46 4 306 242 6,00 3 158 246
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24. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS continued
Share-based payments continued
E uity settled restricted share plan
Certain employees will become owners of ordinary shares, which were acquired on the market, for award. From the grant date, they will 
immediately benefit from dividends and have shareholder voting rights, thus providing direct alignment between participants and 
shareholders. The employee will give no consideration for the grant or settlement of an award. In the case of resignation or dismissal, all 
unvested awards will be forfeited. The vesting period is generally three years. The share-based, equity-settled expense for the year ended 
30 June 2017 in profit or loss is R7 166 758 (2016: R6 005 778).

 2017 2016

Number of
shares

granted

Average
share
price

(R)

Number of
shares

granted

Average
share
price

(R)

Unvested at beginning of period 145 194 133,56 88 189 124,03
Granted during period 45 268 164,79 57 005 148,31
Forfeited during period (12 367) 134,88 – –
Vested during period (37 320) 122,15 – –

Unvested at end of period 140 775 146,32 145 194 133,56

25. BORROWING POWERS
The borrowings of the company are not limited by its memorandum of incorporation.
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Group Company
R000 2017 2016 2017 2016

26. NOTES TO THE STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
26.1 Cash generated by operations

Profit before taxation 425 395 452 142 389 535 378 282
Adjusted for:
–  depreciation and amortisation 102 779 96 399 94 554 87 871
– movement in operating lease accrual (2 192) (255) (3 510) (3 081)
– interest income (6 603) (2 268) (13 276) (11 888)
– interest expense 77 558 74 523 77 530 74 523
–  Loss/(profit) on disposal of property, plant and equipment 249 (229) (10) (77)
– movement in defined-benefit liability (10 494) (4 568) (10 494) (4 568)
– defined-benefit remeasurements (573) 6 827 (573) 6 827
– impairment of other investment 23 980 –
– share-based payment expense 15 470 14 115 15 470 14 115
– unrealised foreign currency loss 658 (877)
–  fair value gain on remeasurement of property, plant 

and equipment – (29)                                 – (29)
Operating cash flows before working capital changes 626 227 635 780 549 226 541 975
Decrease/(increase) in inventories 889 (612) (148) (277)
(Increase) in trade and other receivables (27 017) (4 721) (29 251) 6 511
Increase in trade and other payables 8 598 24 174 12 899 29 063

608 697 654 621 532 726 577 272

26.2 Taxation paid
Balance overpaid/(owing) at beginning of year 4 389 (1 351) (1 216) (4 334)
Taxation payable per statements of comprehensive income (128 966) (123 917) (106 558) (101 356)
Balance owing/(overpaid) at end of year 7 543 (4 389) 12 085 1 216

(117 034) (129 657) (95 689) (104 474)

26.3 Investment to maintain operations
Additions to property, plant and equipment
– land and buildings (2 004) (34 317) (2 004) (34 317)
– furniture and equipment (25 984) (32 767) (22 746) (31 007)
– computer software (10 020) (14 879) (9 692) (14 879)

(38 008) (81 963) (34 442) (80 203)
Less: Proceeds on disposal
   Furniture and equipment 199 415 111 228

(37 809) (81 548) 34 331 (79 975)
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Group Company
R000 2017 2016 2017 2016

26. NOTES TO THE STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS continued
26.4 Investment to expand operations

Additions to property, plant and equipment
– land and buildings (158 283) (91 061) (346) (61 251)
– furniture and equipment (6 070) (19 284) – (19 284)

(164 353) (110 345) (346) (80 535)

26.5 Investments and loans
Increase in investments (200) – (200) (3)

(200) – (200) (3)

27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
27.1 Classes of financial instruments

Financial assets
Loan – Property Lodging Investments Proprietary Limited 62 800 62 800
Loans receivable – – 34 000 34 000
Trade receivables 95 092 97 408 90 582 89 389
Other receivables 116 231 24 207 56 179 28 383
Other investments 24 217 56 860 – –
Cash and cash equivalents 115 664 104 309 41 245 28 650
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Interest-bearing borrowings (320 000) (270 000) (109 000) (250 000)
BEE interest-bearing borrowings (44 120) (44 120) (44 120) (44 120)
BEE preference shares (382 200) (397 500) (382 200) (397 500)
BEE shareholder’s loan (43 528) (37 893) (43 528) (37 893)
BEE B preference share dividend accrual (236 466) (200 171) (236 466) (200 171)
Trade and other payables (142 004) (133 693) (190 693) (178 081)

The fair value of the financial assets and liabilities approximates their carrying amount.
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27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS continued
27.2 Market risk – is the risk that changes in market rates such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates and equity prices will affect 

the group’s income and value of its holding of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage 
and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters while optimising the return.

(a) Interest rate risk – fluctuations in interest rates impact the value of short-term investments and financing activities, 
giving rise to the interest rate risk. The group generally adopts a policy of ensuring that its exposure to changes in 
interest rates is limited by either fixing the rate or by linking the rate to the average medium term, risk-free rate over 
the period of the respective loan.

(b) Currency risk
 Currency risk related to investments in foreign entities
 The group has interest in entities which operate in various countries. A significant portion of the group’s foreign revenue 

is earned in countries which have stable currencies. It is not the group’s policy to hedge investments in foreign subsidiaries.

 Currency risk related to foreign transactions
 Each group entity operates predominantly within its own common monetary area and therefore the group has no 

significant currency risk with regards to operational activities. At year-end, all group entities had no foreign currency 
trade receivables or payables. It is not the group s policy to hedge transactions which are denominated in a currency 
other than the entities’ functional currency, which mainly occurs with purchases.
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27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS continued
27.3 Liquidity risk – is the risk that the group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The group’s 

approach to managing liquidity by managing its working capital, capital expenditure and cash flows, is to ensure as far 
as possible that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed 
conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the group’s reputation. Ultimate responsibility for 
liquidity risk management rests with the board of directors. Typically the group ensures that it has sufficient cash on hand to 
meet operational expenses, including the servicing of financial obligations. The group also has access to overdraft facilities, 
which may be used to meet its financial obligations if necessary.

The table below analyses the financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the 
reporting date to the contractual maturity date: 

R000
Carrying
amount

Contractual
undiscounted

cash flows
Less than
one year

Between
one and

five years
More than
five years

Group
At 30 June 2017
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Borrowings 320 000 420 802 31 288 389 514 –
BEE interest-bearing borrowings 44 120 46 415 46 415 – –
BEE preference shares 382 200 390 601 390 601 – –
BEE shareholder’s loan 43 528 50 000 50 000 – –
BEE B preference share dividend accrual 236 466 255 082 255 082 – –
Trade payables 142 004 142 004 142 004 – –

1 168 318 1 304 904 915 390 389 514 –

At 30 June 2016
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Borrowings 270 000 368 204 24 163 344 041 –
BEE interest-bearing borrowings 44 120 50 671 4 374 46 297 –
BEE preference shares 397 500 420 355 12 929 407 426 –
BEE shareholder’s loan 37 893 50 000 – 50 000 –
BEE B preference share dividend accrual 200 171 255 489 – 255 489 –
Trade payables 133 693 133 693 133 693 – –

1 083 377 1 278 412 175 159 1 103 253 –
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27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS continued

27.3 Liquidity risk continued

R000
Carrying
amount

Contractual
undiscounted

cash flows
Less than
one year

Between
one and

five years
More than
five years

Company
At 30 June 2017
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Borrowings 109 000 140 993 10 655 130 338 –
BEE interest-bearing borrowings 44 120 46 415 46 415 – –
BEE preference shares 382 200 390 601 390 601 – –
BEE shareholder’s loan 43 528 50 000 50 000 – –
BEE B preference share dividend accrual 236 466 255 082 255 082 – –
Trade payables 190 693 190 693 190 693 – –

1 006 007 1 073 784 943 446 130 338

At 30 June 2016
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Borrowings 250 000 340 642 22 645 317 997 –
BEE interest-bearing borrowings 44 120 50 671 4 374 46 297 –
BEE preference shares 397 500 420 355 12 929 407 426 –
BEE shareholder’s loan 37 893 50 000 – 50 000 –
BEE B preference share dividend accrual 200 171 255 489 – 255 489 –
Trade payables 178 081 178 081 178 081 – –

1 107 765 1 295 238 218 029 1 077 209 –



NOTES to the nancial statements con nued

144 City Lodge Hotel Group 
Integrated Report 2017

for the year ended 30 June 2017

27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS continued

27.3 Liquidity risk continued

The interest rate profile of the group is as follows:

Group Company

R000 2017 2016 2017 2016

Variable rate instruments
Assets 115 664 104 309 41 245 28 650

Liabilities (746 320) (711 620) (535 320) (691 620)

Fixed rate instruments
Assets 62 800 62 800

Liabilities (43 528) (37 893) (43 528) (37 893)

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments
A change of 50 basis points in the interest rates at the reporting date would have increased/(decreased) profit or loss and equity 
by the amount shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant.

Group Company

R000 2017 2016 2017 2016

50 bps increase 1 717 1 276 1 232 1 253
50 bps decrease (1 717) (1 276) (1 232) (1 253)

27.4 Credit risk – credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the group if a counterparty to a financial asset fails to meet its contractual 
obligations. Management has a credit policy in place and the exposure to credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis. Credit 
evaluations are performed on all travel agents or customers requiring credit. Reputable financial institutions are used for 
investing and cash-handling purposes. At the reporting date, there were no significant concentrations of credit risk. The 
maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset.
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27.4 Credit risk continued

Group Company
R000 2017 2016 2017 2016

Loan – Property Lodging Investments Proprietary Limited 62 800 62 800
Loan receivable – – 34 000 34 000
Other receivables 116 231 24 207 56 179 28 383
Trade receivables 95 092 97 408 90 582 89 389
Other investments 24 217 56 860
Cash and cash equivalents 115 664 104 309 41 245 28 650

351 204 282 784 284 806 243 222

The carrying amount of trade receivables represents the  
maximum credit exposure at reporting date which was:
Trade receivables
Not past due 60 999 61 495 57 542 56 452
0 – 30 days past due 25 767 23 819 25 161 22 879
31 – 120 days past due 8 326 12 094 7 879 10 058
Gross 15 102 16 032 14 608 13 931
Impairment allowance (6 776) (3 938) (6 729) (3 873)

95 092 97 408 90 582 89 389

Trade receivables by type of customer
Travel agents 74 676 68 092 74 215 67 303
Large corporates and companies 20 416 29 316 16 367 22 086

95 092 97 408 90 582 89 389

Trade receivables by geographical region – South Africa 90 582 89 389 90 582 89 389
Trade receivables by geographical region – Kenya 3 284 6 354
Trade receivables by geographical region – Botswana 1 226 1 665

95 092 97 408 90 582 89 389

The movement in the impairment allowance in respect  
of trade receivables during the year was as follows:
Balance at beginning of year 3 938 5 319 3 873 4 917
Impairment allowance raised/(reversal) 2 845 (1 423) 2 856 (1 044)
Foreign exchange movement (7) 42

Balance at end of year 6 776 3 938 6 729 3 873

Trade receivables more than 90 days past due are considered for impairment taking into account history of default and 
subsequent payment. Amounts past due and not impaired are considered to be recoverable by management.

27.5 Capital management – the group’s objective when managing capital, which consists of ordinary shares, preference shares, retained 
earnings and other reserves, is to safeguard the group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to provide acceptable returns for 
shareholders. The board of directors monitors the level of dividends to ordinary shareholders.
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28. RELATED PARTIES
28.1 Identity of related parties with whom material transactions have occurred

The company is the holding company of Anchor Park Investments 105 Proprietary Limited, Budget Hotels Proprietary Limited, 
City Lodge Hotels (Africa) Proprietary Limited, City Lodge Hotels (Botswana) Proprietary Limited, Courtyard Management 
Company Proprietary Limited, Fairview Hotel Limited, Gallic Courtyard (Arcadia) Share Block Proprietary Limited, Gallic 
Courtyard (Bruma Lake) Share Block Proprietary Limited, Gallic Courtyard (Rosebank) Share Block Limited, Gallic Courtyard 
(Sandown) Share Block Limited and Property Lodging Investments Proprietary Limited. 

Courtyard Management Company Proprietary Limited is the management company of the Courtyard Hotels.

Budget Hotels Proprietary Limited and Property Lodging Investments Proprietary Limited lease land to City Lodge 
Hotels Limited.

Interest-bearing loans exist between City Lodge Hotels Limited and Property Lodging Investments Proprietary Limited and 
City Lodge Hotels (Africa) Proprietary Limited.

All of the above entities are related parties to the company. Other than the directors’ remuneration (refer to note 18) and 
information below, there are no other related parties with whom material transactions have taken place.

28.2 Types of related-party transactions
Management fees and operating lease rental payments have been made and interest has been received from/paid to certain 
related parties. 
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Company
R000 2017 2016

28.3 Material related-party transactions
Subsidiary companies
Management fees paid to related parties
Courtyard Management Company Proprietary Limited 2 702 3 220
Management fees received from related parties
City Lodge Hotels (Botswana) Proprietary Limited 1 132 1 188

Operating lease rentals paid to related parties
Budget Hotels Proprietary Limited 1 973 1 879
Property Lodging Investments Proprietary Limited 27 301 24 818

29 274 26 697

Interest received from related parties
Property Lodging Investments Proprietary Limited 7 536 7 860

Interest paid to related parties
City Lodge Hotels (Africa) Proprietary Limited 19 139 21 664

Licence fees received from related parties
Fairview Hotel Limited 663 780
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28. RELATED PARTIES continued

Company
R000 2017 2016

28.4 Loan to subsidiary
Property Lodging Investments Proprietary Limited 62 800 62 800

28.5 Loan from subsidiary
City Lodge Hotels (Africa) Proprietary Limited 109 000 250 000

28.6 Amounts due to
Subsidiary companies
Budget Hotels Proprietary Limited 12 894 11 430
Property Lodging Investments Proprietary Limited 41 642 28 170
City Lodge Holdings (Share Block) Proprietary Limited 4 065 4 065
Courtyard Management Company Proprietary Limited 13 645 13 972
Gallic Courtyard (Arcadia) Share Block Proprietary Limited 1 1
Gallic Courtyard (Bruma Lake) Share Block Proprietary Limited 3 3
Gallic Courtyard (Rosebank) Share Block Limited 4 4
Gallic Courtyard (Sandown) Share Block Limited 3 3

72 257 57 648

28.7 Amounts due by
Subsidiary companies
City Lodge Hotels (Africa) Proprietary Limited 32 218 4 000
City Lodge Hotels (Botswana) Proprietary Limited 804 6 696

33 022 10 696

The amounts due to and by subsidiary companies are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
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Group Company
R000 2017 2016 2017 2016

28.8 Transactions with key management
Key management, other than directors, is defined as 
first-line management of the company and its principal 
operations. First-line management largely constitutes 
operational executive management.

Key management compensation is as follows (refer to note 18):
–  short-term employee benefits, including salaries 

and bonuses 21 073 18 114 21 073 17 444
– equity compensation benefits 3 029 2 696 3 029 2 696

24 102 20 810 24 102 20 140

29. GOING CONCERN
The directors consider that the company and its subsidiaries have adequate resources to continue operating for the foreseeable future 
and that it is therefore appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the group and company’s financial statements. The 
directors have satisfied themselves that the company and its subsidiaries are in a sound financial position and that they have access 
to sufficient cash and borrowing facilities to meet their foreseeable cash requirements.

30. RELEVANT STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS EFFECTIVE FOR YEARS ENDING AFTER 30 JUNE 2017
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2017, the following standards and interpretations 
were in issue but not yet effective for the company:

Standard/interpretation Effective date

IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers 1 January 2018

IFRS 9 Financial instruments 1 January 2018

IFRS 2 Classification and measurement of share-based payment transactions 1 January 2018

IFRS 16 Leases 1 January 2019

All the standards listed above are applicable to the company and will be adopted on their effective dates. Management is of the view that the 
effects on disclosure would be minimal, and would result in some enhanced disclosure. The effects on recognition and measurement would be 
limited, save for the adoption of IFRS 16. IFRS 16 was published in January 2016. It sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, 
presentation and disclosure of leases for both parties to a contract, ie the customer (“lessee”) and the supplier (“lessor”). IFRS 16 replaces the 
previous leases standard, IAS 17 Leases, and related interpretations. IFRS 16 has one model for lessees which will result in almost all leases being 
included on the statement of financial position. No significant changes have been included for lessors.

The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. The transitional requirements are different for lessees and 
lessors. The group and company are assessing the potential impact on the financial statements resulting from the application of IFRS 16.
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SEGMENT analysis

The segment information has been prepared in accordance with IFRS 8 Operating Segments which defines the requirements for the disclosure 
of financial information of an entity’s operating segments.

The standard requires a “management approach” whereby segment information is presented on the same basis as that used for internal reporting 
purposes to the chief operating decision-maker/s who have been identified as the group’s executive directors. These individuals review the group’s 
internal reporting by hotel brand in order to assess performance and allocate resources. Depreciation for reportable segments is an asymmetrical 
expense as assets are not classified by segment. The depreciation charge for each reportable segment relates to furniture, fittings and equipment, 
while the majority of the charge for central office and other relates to hotel buildings. The measurement policies the group uses for segment reporting 
under IFRS 8 are the same as those used in its financial statements.

Courtyard City Lodge Town Lodge Road Lodge
Central Office  

and other Total
R000 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

Revenue 67 139 76 703 790 685 750 948 228 297 227 583 296 104 288 272 138 185 149 657 1 520 410 1 493 163

EBITDAR 25 274 33 124 470 078 445 741 110 094 111 339 166 863 162 286 (76 656) (46 930) 695 653 705 560

Land and hotel 
building rental (96 524) (84 764) (96 524) (84 764)

EBITDA 599 129 620 796
Depreciation (3 846) (4 239) (22 612) (21 779) (7 316) (6 662) (11 670) (11 732) (57 335) (51 987) (102 779) (96 399)

Results from 
operating 
activities 496 350 524 397

Geographical information
South Africa Rest of Africa Total

R000 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

Revenue 1 382 225 1 343 506 138 185 149 657 1 520 410 1 493 163

Non-current assets – property, plant 
and equipment 1 299 533 1 371 592 617 489 472 548 1 917 022 1 844 140

EBITDAR represents earnings after BEE transaction charges but before interest, taxation, depreciation, amortisation and rental.

EBITDA represents earnings after BEE transaction charges but before interest, taxation, depreciation and amortisation.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ analysis

SHAREHOLDER SPREAD

Beneficial shareholders with holdings exceeding 1%
Number of

shares owned
% of total

issued shares

Enderle S.A. Proprietary Limited 3 816 479 8,76
Government Employees Pension Fund (PIC) 2 900 437 6,66
Vuwa Investments Proprietary Limited 2 556 185 5,87
The Injabulo Staff Trust* 2 556 120 5,87
Aberdeen Funds 2 222 902 5,10
Old Mutual Group 2 147 450 4,93
Fidelity Worldwide Investment 1 613 431 3,70
Government of Norway 1 497 667 3,44
JP Morgan 1 486 191 3,41
University of Johannesburg School for Tourism and Hospitality 1 278 060 2,93
BNP Paribas (Custodian) 1 095 326 2,51
Somerset Funds 991 499 2,28
Vanguard 741 328 1,70
Dimensional Fund Advisors 668 376 1,53
Sanlam Group 625 840 1,44
Coronation Fund Managers 548 116 1,26
Trustees City Lodge 10th Anniversary* 508 974 1,17
Nedbank Group 505 118 1,16
Rezco 495 088 1,14
MMI 471 631 1,08

Total 28 726 218 65,94

*   Non-public, which in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements includes, inter alia, the directors of the company, the trustees of any employees’ share scheme, 
employees of the issuer where a restriction is imposed on the trading of the listed securities and any person or entity that is interested in 10% or more of a 
particular class of securities.

Investment management shareholdings exceeding 3%
Total

shareholding % 
City Lodge Hotels BEE SPVs 6 390 365 14,67
Enderle H R 3 816 479 8,76
Aberdeen Asset Management  2 425 734 5,57
PIC 2 261 716 5,19
Melville Douglas Investment Management 2 063 592 4,74
Abax Investments 1 746 014 4,01
Fidelity Worldwide Investment 1 613 431 3,70
J.P. Morgan Asset Management 1 486 177 3,41
Prudential Investment Managers 1 441 607 3,31
Old Mutual Investment Group 1 364 819 3,13

Total 24 609 934 56,49
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SHAREHOLDER SPREAD

Shareholder spread
Number of

holders
% of total

shareholders
Number of

shares
% of issued

capital

1 – 1 000 shares 8 520 80,30 1 574 155 3,61
1 001 – 10 000 shares 1 789 16,86 5 011 923 11,50
10 001 – 100 000 shares 241 2,27 6 438 892 14,78
100 001 – 1 000 000 shares 53 0,50 16 182 530 37,14
1 000 001 shares and above 7 0,07 14 364 793 32,97

Total 10 610 100,0 43 572 293 100,0

PUBLIC AND NON PUBLIC SHAREHOLDINGS

Shareholder type
Number of

holders
% of total

shareholders
Number of

shares
% of issued

capital

Non-public shareholders* 178 1,68 10 064 234 23,10
– Directors 3 0,03 448 120 1,03
– Other 175 1,65 9 616 114 22,07
Public shareholders 10 432 98,32 33 508 059 76,90

Total 10 610 100,0 43 572 293 100,0

*   Non-public, which in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements includes, inter alia, the directors of the company, the trustees of any employees’ share scheme, 
employees of the issuer where a restriction is imposed on the trading of the listed securities and any person or entity that is interested in 10% or more of a 
particular class of securities.

GEOGRAPHIC SPLIT OF BENEFICIAL SHAREHOLDERS

Region
Total

shareholding
% of issued

capital

South Africa 31 494 664 72,28
United States of America and Canada 5 363 998 12,31
United Kingdom 665 732 1,50
Rest of Europe 5 798 046 13,31
Rest of world 259 853 0,60

Total 43 572 293 100,00

SHAREHOLDERS’ analysis con nued


